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COVERING LETTER 
FROM THE CHAIRMAN

DEAR SHAREHOLDER,
On behalf of the Board of directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties 
Limited (the “Company”), I would like to invite you to attend 
the 2020 Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of the 
Company (“AGM”) to be held on Friday, 28 August 2020. Due 
to the ongoing COVID-19 restrictions imposed on air travel 
and gatherings across the world, the meeting will be held on 
a virtual platform as for the Jersey court convened scheme of 
arrangement meeting of shareholders held on 16 July 2020. 
I apologise for any inconvenience this may cause. The Company 
has retained the services of Computershare to host the AGM 
and act as scrutineers.

Included within this notice of AGM are the Company’s 
financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2020 
and a number of supplementary documents intended to help 
you decide how to vote on the proposed resolutions. The 
Company has made use of the Financial Services Conduct 
Authority’s reporting extension (refer to the announcement 
released by the Company on 29 June 2020) and therefore a 
full integrated annual report has not yet been provided. 
This is discussed further below.

As noted above, the Company recently held a meeting of its 
shareholders convened with the permission of the Court of 
Jersey to enable shareholders to consider and vote on the 
proposed scheme of arrangement with South Downs 
Investment LP (the “Offeror”) (the “Scheme”). I would like to 
thank shareholders for their support by voting in favour of 
the Scheme in line with the Board’s recommendation. The 
detailed results of the voting were released on SENS of the 
JSE Limited and the website of the Stock Exchange of 
Mauritius Ltd (“SEM”) on 16 July 2020; 99.7% of the votes cast 
were in favour, comfortably surpassing the 75% majority 
required under Jersey law.

I would like to remind you that the Scheme must also be 
approved by the Jersey court at the sanctions hearing 
scheduled for 3 August 2020 at 14:30 UK time. A further 
announcement providing an update on the Scheme will be 
published on SENS and the SEM’s website on 4 August 2020. 

If the Scheme is approved at the sanctions hearing, it will 
mark the commencement of a new era in the development 
of the Company under new ownership, when it becomes a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Offeror with effect from 
Monday, 17 August 2020. The Company will be delisted from 
both the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and the SEM on 
18 August 2020 and there will, as a consequence, be no 
requirement for the Company to release an integrated 
annual report. In this event, shareholders are requested 
to disregard this notice of AGM.

If the Scheme is not approved at the sanctions hearing, the 
2020 integrated annual report will be released on the 
Company’s website on Tuesday, 25 August 2020 providing 
you with the opportunity to review the information contained 
therein to vote on the proposed resolutions.

Shareholders recorded on the Company’s share register on 
Wednesday, 26 August 2020 will be entitled to vote, and so 
the last day to trade shall be Friday, 21 August 2020. The 
instructions for how to submit your votes are included on 
page 14, and instructions on how to participate in the 
AGM’s online platform are detailed in Annexure 6.

I look forward to discussing your questions and opinions at 
the AGM.

Yours faithfully,

P E T E R  B A C O N
Chairman
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ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED
Incorporated in Jersey 
Registration number: 128426 
SEM share code: ALPL.N0000 
JSE share code: ALP 
ISIN: MU0422N00009
(“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”)

In line with Article 15 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders of Atlantic Leaf (“AGM”) will be held on 
Friday, 28 August 2020 at 09h00 UK time (10h00 South 
African time/12h00 Mauritian time). Given the current 
restrictions on travel and physical meetings due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the AGM will be held via an electronic 
platform and therefore there will not be a physical meeting 
for shareholders to attend in person. Accordingly, in order to 
vote at the AGM, shareholders will need to either (i) lodge a 
completed form of proxy in advance of the AGM; or (ii) attend 
the AGM through electronic participation and vote in person 
by following the step-by-step process set out in Annexure 6 
of this notice.

The AGM is being held for the purpose of presenting the 
Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 
28 February 2020, together with the reports of the directors 
and the independent auditor, and transacting the following 
business:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBER 1
THAT the audited financial statements of the Company and 
the notes thereto for the year ended 28 February 2020  
(a copy of which is attached hereto) be received and adopted.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBERS 2.1 – 2.8
THAT the following directors, who retire and offer themselves 
for re-election in accordance with article 19.2 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, be re-elected each by way of a 
separate vote:

NOTICE AND AGENDA OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

OF SHAREHOLDERS
2.1. Mr. Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright;
2.2. Mr. Mark Andrew Pryce;
2.3. Mr. Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls;
2.4. Ms. Cleopatra Liana Folkes;
2.5. Mr. Laurence Gary Rapp;
2.6. Mr. Pieter Rudolf Pretorius;
2.7.  Mr. Charles Alistair Neilson Butler; and
2.8. Mr. Peter Douglas St. John Bacon.

A brief CV for each of those nominated is provided in 
Annexure 5.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBER 3
THAT Mazars, the independent auditor of the Company with 
Mr. Richard Metcalfe and Mr. Duncan Dollman as designated 
audit partners, be appointed until the conclusion of the 
Company’s next Annual General Meeting of shareholders.

The Audit Committee has assessed and confirmed the suitability 
of Mazars, Mr. Richard Metcalfe and Mr. Duncan Dollman for 
appointment in accordance with paragraph 3.84 (g)(iii) of the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBER 4
THAT the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
be authorised to determine the remuneration of the 
independent auditor.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBER 5 
THAT fees to be paid by the Company to the independent 
non-executive directors for their services as directors of up to 
GBP 105 000 per independent non-executive director for one 
year of service or a pro rata share thereof, as applicable in 
the circumstances, be approved.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION  
NUMBER 6 
THAT the Board be hereby authorised to allot and issue up 
to 100 000 000 additional ordinary shares of no par value 
in accordance with article 5(5) of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, at the Board’s discretion, subject to the 
provisions of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, the SEM 
Listing Rules and the JSE Listings Requirements, at a target 
price to be decided by the Board at the time the allotment 
and issue is agreed to and in line with the Articles of 
Association of the Company and that such authority granted 
to the directors shall be valid until the next Annual General 
Meeting of shareholders or 12 months from the date hereof, 
whichever is the earlier.

The Mauritian Securities (Preferential Offer) Rules 2017 made 
by the Mauritian Financial Services Commission under 
section 93 of the Mauritian Financial Services Act, 2007 and 
sections 70 and 155 of the Mauritian Securities Act, 2005 
require that further information be disclosed, as set out in 
Annexure 1 to this notice of AGM.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
THAT, subject to the provisions of the Companies (Jersey) 
Law 1991, the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and pursuant to inter alia the Company’s 
Articles of Association, the Board be and is hereby authorised 
to allot and issue additional ordinary shares of no par value 
of the Company for cash, until this authority lapses which 
shall be at the next Annual General Meeting or 12 months 
from the date hereof, whichever is the earliest, and which 
authority is subject to the restrictions set out below:

 � the allotment and issue of shares must be made to 
persons qualifying as public shareholders, as defined in the 
JSE Listings Requirements, and not to related parties;

 � the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must 
be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, 
must be limited to such shares options or rights that are 
convertible into a class of securities already in issue;

 � the total aggregate number of shares which may be issued 
for cash in terms of this authority may not exceed 
28 346 494 shares (being 15% of the issued share capital at 
the date of this notice of AGM). Accordingly, any shares 
issued under this authority prior to this authority lapsing 
shall be deducted from the 28 346 494 shares the 
Company is authorised to issue in terms of this authority 
for the purpose of determining the remaining number of 
shares that may be issued in terms of this authority;

 � in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of shares 
prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority shall be 
adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

 � the price at which the shares may be issued shall be no 
less than a 5% discount to the volume weighted average 
traded price of the Company’s shares traded on the 
JSE Limited, measured over the 30 business days prior to 
the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 
Company and the party(ies) subscribing for the shares; and

 � after the Company has issued shares for cash which 
represent, on a cumulative basis, within the period that 
this authority is valid, 5% or more of the number of shares 
in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of the issue, including 
the number of shares issued, the average discount to 
the weighted average trade price of the shares over the 
30 days prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing 
and an explanation, including supporting documentation  
(if any), of the intended use of the funds.

The Mauritian Securities (Preferential Offer) Rules 2017 made 
by the Mauritian Financial Services Commission under 
section 93 of the Mauritian Financial Services Act, 2007 and 
sections 70 and 155 of the Mauritian Securities Act, 2005 
require that further information be disclosed, as set out in 
Annexure 1 to this notice of AGM.

NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1
Endorsement of Remuneration 
Policy
THAT in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance (“King IV Report”), 
and through a non-binding advisory vote, the Remuneration 
Policy be and is hereby approved.

The Remuneration Policy is disclosed in detail in Annexure 2. 

NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 2 
Endorsement of Remuneration 
Implementation Report 
THAT in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and 
the King IV Report, and through a non-binding advisory vote, 
the Remuneration Implementation Report be and is hereby 
approved.

The Remuneration Implementation Report is disclosed in 
detail in Annexure 3. 

Explanatory note: In terms of the King IV Report, an advisory vote 
should be obtained from shareholders on the Company’s 
Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Implementation Report. 
The vote allows shareholders to express their view on the 
Remuneration Policy and on the Remuneration Implementation 
Report. 

In the event of 25% or more of the voting rights are executed 
against non-binding resolutions number 1 and/or 2, the Board is 
committed to engaging actively with dissenting shareholders in 
this regard, in order to ascertain the reasons therefore and to 
address all legitimate and reasonable objections and concerns.
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The directors consider that the passing of Ordinary 
Resolutions numbered 1 to 7 and Non-Binding Resolutions 
number 1 and 2 are in the best interests of the Company and 
its shareholders as a whole, and accordingly recommend that 
shareholders vote in favour of all the resolutions to be 
proposed at the AGM. 

Unless otherwise stated, in order for the ordinary resolutions 
to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total 
number of votes exercisable by shareholders, present via the 
electronic platform or by proxy, is required. In terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements, Ordinary Resolution number 7 will 
require the support of more than 75% of the total votes 
exercisable by shareholders of the Company, present via the 
electronic platform or by proxy, to pass the resolution.

Key dates and times for the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders:

KEY EVENTS DATE

Publication of Annual 
Financial Statements and 
Notice of AGM

Thursday, 30 July 2020

Availability of 2020 
Integrated Annual Report 
on the Company’s website 
(in the event the Scheme 
is not approved at the 
sanctions hearing)

Tuesday, 25 August 2020

Record date to be 
recorded in the register 
by 9h00 UK time (10h00 
South African time/ 
12h00 Mauritian time) in 
order to be entitled to  
vote at the AGM

Wednesday, 26 August 2020

Last day to lodge forms 
of proxy for the AGM by 
9h00 UK time (10h00 
South African time/ 
12h00 Mauritian time)

Wednesday, 26 August 2020

AGM at 9h00 UK time 
(10h00 South African 
time/12h00 Mauritian time)

Friday, 28 August 2020

Results of AGM published 
by 9h00 UK time (10h00 
South African time/ 
12h00 Mauritian time) 
on or before

Tuesday, 1 September 2020

Distribution of 2020 
Integrated Annual Report 
(in the event the Scheme 
is not approved at the 
sanctions hearing)

Monday, 7 September 2020

Instructions for shareholders holding shares in 
certificated form or dematerialised form in “own-name”

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any 
shareholder of the Company holding certificated shares who 
cannot or does not wish to participate in the AGM but who 
wishes to be represented thereat. Forms of proxy may also be 
obtained on request from the Company’s registered office. 

Shareholders of the Company holding shares in certificated 
form or dematerialised form in “own-name” may elect to:

 � attend and vote at the AGM via the electronic platform; or 
alternatively

 � may appoint an individual as a proxy (who need not also 
be a shareholder of the Company) to participate in and 
vote in your stead at the AGM via the electronic platform 
by completing the attached form of proxy and returning it 
to the addresses below, to be received by no later than 
9h00 UK time (10h00 South African time/12h00 Mauritian 
time) on Wednesday, 26 August 2020:

For shareholders holding shares 
on the Mauritian sub-register

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Limited,
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801 
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

Computershare Investor Services  
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa

Or by post to:

Computershare Investor Services  
Proprietary Limited
Private Bag X9000
Saxonwold
2132

Or email to: 
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

For shareholders holding shares 
on the South African sub-register 

Notice and agenda of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders continued
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Please note that the completed form of proxy must be 
delivered to the addresses opposite prior to the dates and 
times indicated, before your proxy may exercise any of your 
rights as a shareholder of the Company at the AGM.

Please note that any shareholder of the Company that is a 
company may authorise any person to act as its 
representative at the AGM.

Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy 
will nevertheless be entitled to participate in and vote at the 
AGM via the electronic platform should the shareholder 
subsequently decide to do so.

Instructions for shareholders holding shares in 
certificated form or dematerialised form not held in 
“own-name”

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised 
shares held through a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) or a broker (or their nominee) and are 
not registered as an “own-name” dematerialised shareholder, 
then you are not a registered shareholder of the Company, 
but your CSDP or broker (or their nominee) would be.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, and subject to the 
mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker as the 
case may be:

 � If you wish to participate in and vote at the AGM via the 
electronic platform, you must contact your CSDP or broker, 
and obtain the relevant letter of representation from it; 
alternatively

 � If you are unable to participate in the AGM but wish to be 
represented at the AGM, you must contact your CSDP or 
broker and furnish it with your voting instructions in 
respect of the AGM and/or request it to appoint a proxy. 
You must not complete the attached form of proxy. The 
instructions must be provided in accordance with the 
mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker, 
within the time period required by your CSDP or broker.

CSDPs or brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, 
recorded in the Company’s sub-register as holders of 
dematerialised shares should, when authorised in terms of 
their mandate or instructed to do so by the owner on behalf 
of whom they hold dematerialised shares, vote by either 
appointing a duly authorised representative to participate in 
and vote at the AGM via the electronic platform or by 
completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with 
the instructions thereon and return it to the addresses 
below, to be received by no later than 9h00 UK time (10h00 
South African time/12h00 Mauritian time) on Wednesday, 
26 August 2020:

For shareholders holding shares 
on the Mauritian sub-register 

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Limited,
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

Computershare Investor Services  
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa

Postal address:  
Private Bag X9000
Saxonwold
2132

Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

For shareholders holding shares 
on the South African sub-register

Voting at the AGM 
In order to more effectively record the votes and give effect 
to the intentions of shareholders, voting on all resolutions 
will be conducted by way of a poll via the electronic platform.

By order of the Board

O C O R I A N  S E C R E T A R I E S  ( J E R S E Y )  L I M I T E D 
Company Secretary 

Jersey 
30 July 2020
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Disclosure of additional information required under the 
Mauritian Securities (Preferential Offer) Rules 2017 made 
by the Mauritian Financial Services Commission under 
section 93 of the Mauritian Financial Services Act 2007 and 
sections 70 and 155 of the Mauritian Securities Act 2005.

Pursuant to Rule 4(4) of the Securities (Preferential Offer) 
Rules 2017, the Company hereby provides the following 
additional information in respect of proposed ordinary 
resolutions number 6 and 7 (“the Resolutions”) as set out in 
the notice of Annual General Meeting:

1. Objectives of the issue

  The objective of the issue of shares under the 
Resolutions is to allow the Company to raise funding 
through the issue of new shares.

2. Total number of shares to be issued

  The total number of shares that may be issued under 
the Resolutions is 128,346,494 shares.

3.  The price at which or the price band within which 
the allotment is proposed

  The price to be decided by the Board in due course, 
which price shall be determined by the directors of the 
Company at the time any such offer, issue or placement 
is announced in accordance with the limitations set out 
in the Resolutions.

4. The basis on which the price has been arrived at

 See 3 above.

5.  The class or classes of persons to whom the 
allotment is proposed to be made

  Any proposed allotments pursuant to ordinary 
resolution numbers 6 and 7 would be made to the 
vendors of assets, to current shareholders, to 
sophisticated investors and to the general public.

6.  The proposed time within which the allotment 
shall be completed

  Any allotment of shares shall be made within a 12 month 
period from the date of approval of the Resolutions.

ANNEXURE 1
7.  The names of the proposed allottees and the 

percentage of post preferential offer capital that 
may be held by them, wherever applicable

  The proposed allottees and the percentage of shares 
held by the proposed allottees will only be determined 
once an allotment is made.

8.  Any change in control in the Company subsequent 
to the preferential offer

  Any change of control in the Company will only be 
determined following the proposed allotments.

9.  The number of persons to whom allotment on a 
preferential offer basis have been made during the 
previous 12 months and the corresponding number 
of shares as well as the price of each share

  No allotments have been made during the previous 
12 months.

10.  The justification for the allotment to be made for 
consideration other than cash

  An allotment of shares may be issued as consideration 
for the acquisition of assets.

11.  The shareholding pattern prior to and after the 
issue of shares

  As at the date of this notice, the substantial shareholders 
of the Company are as follows:

Shareholder
Shares 

held

Percentage 
of shares 

in issue

Vukile Property Fund 
Limited 65 958 606 34.90%

KAS Bank Client ACC 21 667 452 11.47%

Sentinel Retirement 
Fund 18 606 014 9.85%

Atlantic Property 
Investments Limited 9 448 825 5.00%

This shareholding pattern is expected to change after an 
issue of shares.
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The Remuneration, Nomination and Social and Ethics 
Committee (the “Committee”) is mandated by the Board to 
maintain the remuneration policy and to recommend the 
remuneration and incentives of directors. Given the existing 
corporate and management structure, the Company 
currently does not have any employees or executives that are 
remunerated directly by the Company. Executive directors 
Paul Leaf-Wright and Mark Pryce are representatives of 
Martial Eagle and accordingly will not be separately 
remunerated for their services as directors of the Company. 
Currently there are no responsibilities required of the 
Committee relating to executive remuneration.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration consists of an annual 
fee in accordance with their roles and responsibilities within 
the Board and its sub-committees. Based on remuneration 
benchmarking exercises the Committee recommends fees for 
non-executive directors to the Board, which are considered 
by shareholders at the AGM. During the year ended 
28 February 2020 there was no other form of remuneration 
paid to non-executive directors.

In accordance with King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the remuneration policy provides that the remuneration 
policy and the remuneration implementation report are 
tabled each year at the Company’s AGM for a non-binding 
advisory vote. Should 25% or more of shareholders vote 
against either or both of the items, the Board will engage 
with dissenting shareholders to ascertain the reasons and 
address all legitimate and reasonable concerns.

There has been no substantial change to the Company’s 
remuneration policy, and the Committee and Board consider 
the policy has achieved its stated objectives. Over the course 
of the next year, the Committee, under its remuneration 
function, will continue to focus on retaining and ensuring the 
fair remuneration of non-executive directors.

At the AGM held on 9 July 2019, 97.97% of voted shares 
endorsed the remuneration policy and the remuneration 
implementation report.

The 2020 remuneration policy can be viewed online at 
https://atlanticleaf.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/
Remuneration-Policy-Jan-2020.pdf

ANNEXURE 2
REMUNERATION REPORT
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During the year ended 28 February 2020, the Company 
remunerated non-executive directors as per the table below:

Director

Directors’ fees 
for the year ended

 28 February 2020 (GBP)

Peter Bacon  42 100 

Nicholas Winearls  25 000 

Cleopatra Folkes  25 250 

Laurence Rapp  23 100 

Rudolf Pretorius  29 550 

Charles Butler *  25 918 

*  Charles Butler’s fees were paid on a pro-rated basis from the date of 
his appointment on 9 July 2019.

The Company currently does not have any employees or 
executives that are remunerated directly by the Company 
(refer to the Remuneration Report in Annexure 2 for 
further details).

The Committee is proposing to shareholders at the AGM that 
the fees to be paid by the Company to the independent 
non-executive directors for their services as directors of up to 
GBP 105 000 per year or pro rata share thereof (current limit: 
GBP 45 000 per year). This increase largely reflects the ad hoc 
additional services that were required of certain non-
executive directors subsequent to the 2020 year end relating 
to the proposed Jersey law scheme of arrangement between 
Atlantic Leaf and South Downs Investment LP. This also gives 
the Company more flexibility in general to draw upon the 
experience of the non-executive directors during times of 
increased activity. 

ANNEXURE 3
REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION REPORT

08 ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2020



The primary role of the Audit Committee is to provide the 
Board assistance in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for 
the financial reporting process, the system of internal 
controls and the audit process.

COMPOSITION
The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of whom 
are independent non-executive members of the Board. The 
Board has designated one committee member to serve as 
the chair. The Board has determined that the committee 
members have the skills and experience necessary to 
contribute meaningfully to the committee’s deliberations. 
In addition, the chairman has the requisite experience in 
accounting and financial management. The following 
directors served on the committee during the year 
under review:

 � Rudolf Pretorius (Chairman of the committee)

 � Nicholas Winearls

 � Charles Butler

 � Cleopatra Folkes (past member)

Charles Butler replaced Cleopatra Folkes as a member of the 
Audit Committee during the current financial year. There 
were four committee meetings held during the year and all 
members attended these meetings.

Other regular attendees to the Audit Committee meetings by 
invitation included:

 � Peter Bacon (Chairman of the Board)

 � Paul Leaf-Wright (Chief Executive Officer)

 � Mark Pryce (Financial Director)

 � Other members of management

 � External auditors

 � Company Secretary

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee provides the Board with additional assurance 
regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial 
information used by the directors and assists them in the 
discharge of their duties. The committee’s responsibilities are 
summarised as follows:

 � Ensure that management has created and maintained 
effective financial and operational controls in the Group;

 � Review and ensure consistency in accounting policies 
with adherence to professional and regulatory 
pronouncements and that unusual or significant 
transactions are appropriately disclosed in the financial 
statements;

 � Oversee the integrity of the integrated report and annual 
financial statements and recommend their approval to 
the Board;

 � Review the content of the financial reports;

 � Approve the auditor’s terms of engagement, including the 
nature and extent of any non-audit services; and

 � Oversee the external audit process, including a review of 
any significant findings and key audit matters.

KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN 
IN THE REPORTING PERIOD
In addition to fulfilling the above-mentioned responsibilities, 
the committee completed the following initiatives:

 � Oversaw the successful audit handover from Mazars 
Mauritius to Mazars UK as part of Atlantic Leaf’s  
re-domiciliation to Jersey.

 � The committee noted the key audit matters set out in the 
independent auditor’s report: valuation of investment 
properties and the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak. The 
committee has considered and evaluated these matters in 
detail and is satisfied that they are represented correctly.

ANNEXURE 4
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT RUDOLF PRETORIUS 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
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 � Reviewed compliance with the requirements of the 
UK REIT regime.

 � Reviewed the proposed reporting amendments under 
Draft Practice Note 4/2019, as well as the JSE’s thematic 
review and proactive monitoring reports issued during the 
year. Ensured that the Company’s financial reporting was 
consistent with the treatments and disclosures required.

 � Worked with management to review, improve, and 
document internal controls relating to the finance function.

Focus during 
the year*

Review of quarterly accounts and 
annual financial statements 30%
External audit 23%
Financial risk management 21%
Regulatory feedback and monitoring 13%
Tax and REIT regime compliance 5%
Review of financial policies and 
controls 5%
Administrative and other 3%

*  Estimated proportions of total time spent in Audit Committee  
meetings discussing each focus area.

COMMITTEE FOCUS FOR THE NEXT 
FINANCIAL YEAR
The following activities have been identified as key focus 
areas for the committee’s attention in the 2021 financial year:

 � Continually look to enhance the quality of the system of 
internal controls for financial reporting and systems 
documentation. 

 � In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on tenants, 
ensure that the Impairment of Financial Assets Policy is 
functioning effectively in respect of receivables.

 � Oversee the preparation of the Company’s first annual tax 
financial statements under the UK REIT regime. 

 � Reassess the allocation of treasury assets held for liquidity 
purposes.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL 
AUDITOR
The committee has assessed the independence, expertise 
and objectivity of Mazars as the external auditor. Mazars has 
been the Company’s external auditor for the last six years. 
Mr Duncan Dollman has been the audit partner for the last 
four years and Mr Richard Metcalfe started as the UK audit 
partner with the appointment of Mazars UK in the 2020 
financial year.

The committee has received confirmation from the external 
auditor that the partners and staff responsible for the audit 
comply with all legal and professional requirements with 
regard to rotation and independence, including the 
stipulation that they do not own shares in the Company. 
The committee has reviewed and considered the suitability 
of Mazars South Africa as JSE accredited auditors and 
Duncan Dollman as designated audit partner in accordance 
with the JSE Listings Requirements and is satisfied therewith.

The auditor does not, except as external auditor or in 
rendering permitted non-audit services, receive any 
remuneration or other benefit from the Company. 

Audit and audit-related services are defined by the Company 
as follows:

 � Services necessary to perform an audit including without 
limitation internal control procedures; and

 � Regulatory audits – defined as those audits where the 
auditor is required to give an opinion in relation to a filing 
with any regulatory authority.

Non-audit services are defined as any other service provided 
by the auditor not included above. The Company’s policy for 
the approval of non-audit services requires that the audit 
firm remains independent and does not provide accounting 
services. When considering the impact on independence, the 
committee reviews the materiality of any non-audit service 
fees in relation to the total annual audit fee.

Details of fees paid or expected to be paid to Mazars in 
relation to their services provided in FY 2020 are provided 
below:

 � Audit fees: GBP 100 000 (FY 2019: GBP 38 500)

 � Non-audit services*: GBP 4 943 (FY 2019: GBP 3 000)

*  Professional fees incurred in FY 2020 related to technical services 
confirming the accounting treatment of a loan guarantee. Professional 
fees incurred in FY 2019 were for the agreed-upon procedures for the 
proposed buy-back of shares.

Annexure 4 – Audit Committee Report continued
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Based on these considerations, the committee is satisfied 
that Mazars is independent of the organisation. Further, the 
committee was satisfied with the quality of the external audit 
for 2020 and the suitability of the audit firm and the 
designated individual partners. The committee recommends 
that Mazars be reappointed for the ensuing year.

In making this judgment, the committee requested and 
inspected where applicable the following information 
from Mazars:

 � Any inspection reports, decision letters, remedial action 
recommendations (if applicable) and other engagement 
documents from the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors of South Africa, regarding Mazars or the individual 
auditors;

 � A summary of internal monitoring review procedures 
performed and conclusions drawn, together with a 
description of significant deficiencies and steps taken to 
resolve or amend them, approved by Mazars’ head of risk; 
and

 � A summary and the outcome of any legal or disciplinary 
proceedings concluded or settled with a fine.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Company has not established an internal audit function 
as the current structure and the nature and volume of the 
transactions involved does not justify an internal audit 
department.

FINANCIAL FUNCTION REVIEW
The committee is satisfied that the Finance Director and the 
finance team are sufficiently skilled and qualified to fulfil 
their responsibilities and are adequately resourced to 
discharge their duties. It is also satisfied that appropriate 
financial reporting controls and procedures exist and are 
working effectively.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
Systems of internal control are designed to manage the 
Company’s exposure to risk as it relates to financial 
reporting, fraud, IT, and internal financial controls, and to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
misstatement or loss.

No material matter has come to the attention of the Board 
that has caused the directors to believe that the Company’s 
system of internal controls and risk management is not 
effective and that the internal financial controls do not form 
a sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial 
statements.

The committee has applied its mind to the preparation and 
presentation of the annual financial statements and 
supplementary schedules, as appended to the 2020 notice of 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, and acknowledges 
its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the information 
included in these documents. The committee recommended 
the annual financial statements and supplementary 
schedules to the Board for approval.

APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE 
REPORT
The Committee confirms that it has functioned in accordance 
with its terms of reference for the 2020 financial year and 
that its report to shareholders has been approved by 
the Board.
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CHANGES IN BOARD COMPOSITION 
DURING THE 2020 FINANCIAL YEAR:
Appointments (effective date):
 � Mr. Mark Andrew Pryce (1 June 2019)

 � Mr. Charles Alistair Neilson Butler (9 July 2019)

Resignations (effective date):
 � Mr. Warren Peter Morton (31 May 2019)

 � Mr. Kesaven Moothoosamy (31 May 2019)

Summarised CVs for the directors 
nominated for re-election:
MR. PAUL STANBROOK LEAF-WRIGHT
B Com

Paul has over 30 years of property and financial services 
experience. He established Leaf Capital in 2004, together 
with Jacqui Hathorn. Paul completed his articles and qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant at Deloitte and Touche in 1986.

He subsequently held various roles in NBS Bank and BoE 
(subsequently Nedbank Ltd) which included financial and 
strategy director, head of treasury, director of property and 
asset finance, and head of wealth management.

During his years in the banking sector his roles included 
running the bank’s private equity division, co-ordinating 
mergers and acquisitions of both bank and third party deals, 
establishment of BEE companies and funding of a wide range 
of projects. Paul has also served on the boards of a number 
of listed companies.

MR. MARK ANDREW PRYCE
BBusSci (Finance Honours), PGDA

Mark holds a Bachelor of Business Science degree with 
Honours in Finance from the University of Cape Town and 
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2003.

He is a CFA Charterholder which he obtained in 2008. He has 
nearly 20 years of working experience in the financial 
services industry with significant experience in investment 
banking, corporate finance and fund management obtained 
in New York, London, Johannesburg and Cape Town. His 
roles have included Chief Financial Officer of Ora Fund 
Managers and other senior positions.

ANNEXURE 5

MR. DUDLEY NICHOLAS GOOD WINEARLS
Nick started his professional career in 1975 at The Board of 
Executors (later rebranded as BoE) in Cape Town, handling 
both domestic and international financial planning for high 
net worth individuals. In 1987, he moved abroad to join 
accountants Touche Ross and Co in the Isle of Man in their 
newly established Offshore Department, dealing extensively 
with IPO’s.

In 1999, he re-joined BoE to establish and head up their 
international trust company in the Isle of Man. In 2009, he 
moved to Monaco following his appointment as a Director of 
independent trust company Landmark Management SAM, 
from which he retired in May 2018.

MS. CLEOPATRA LIANA FOLKES
After graduating in 2005 with a distinction in Veterinary 
Medicine, Cleo spent 3 years in private small animal practice 
as a Veterinary Surgeon with an active role in the business 
management.

Since joining Folkes Holdings Ltd in 2009 Cleo has quickly 
risen up the ranks from Business Development to Director of 
Operations to her current position as Deputy Chairman.

She holds active positions on the boards of all the Folkes 
Holding Group companies; both engineering and property 
and additionally holds a Directorship and alternate 
Directorship on the boards of two private South African 
property funds. Cleo also actively participates in the Young 
Investors Organisation which is a global network of next 
generation leaders.

MR. LAURENCE GARY RAPP
BCom (Hons), Wharton Executive Programme

Laurence is the CEO of Vukile Property Fund Limited, one of 
South Africa’s largest listed REITs, and chairman of Vukile’s 
listed Spanish subsidiary Castellana Property Socimi S.A..

He has significant property experience and has led Vukile 
through various corporate activities, including the transaction 
with Synergy Income Fund Limited. In addition to his wealth 
of property experience Laurence has extensive experience in 
financial services environment, spanning investment banking, 
private equity, retail banking, and insurance and asset 
management.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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He was previously Chairman of the SA REIT Association and a 
director of Standard Bank, as head of the Insurance and 
Asset management divisions, and previously in charge of the 
Strategic Investments and Alliances division.

MR. PIETER RUDOLF PRETORIUS
BCompt Hons

After qualifying as a chartered accountant in South Africa in 
the mid 1980’s, Rudolf spent twelve years with Rand 
Merchant Bank and the FirstRand banking group, before 
founding Treacle Private Equity (Pty) Ltd in 2000.

Treacle raised and managed two successful general South 
African focused private equity funds between 2000 and 2015. 
Rudolf is currently resident in Mauritius where he is a 
director of Adansonia Holdings, and serves on the boards of 
various investee companies spanning the information 
technology and financial services industries in Mauritius, 
sub-Saharan Africa and the USA.

He also acts as independent non-executive director (and 
investment committee member) for a number of USA and 
South African based private equity funds that principally 
invest in Africa.

MR. CHARLES ALISTAIR NEILSON BUTLER
ACA, AFP, BSc (Hons)

Mr Butler is a co-founder and partner at Belerion Capital 
Group Limited, a British firm providing investment advice 
with a focus on the e-commerce and technology sectors. 
He is also currently the non-executive Chairman of Highcroft 
Investments Limited, non-executive director of MySale Group 
Plc and Essensys Plc and is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr Butler was the Chief Executive Officer of Market Tech 
Holdings Limited, a large UK-listed property and digital 
technology group, until January 2018. Having led Market Tech 
to a successful listing on the AIM market of the London Stock 
Exchange, he subsequently went on to raise over  
GBP 1 billion in equity and debt for Market Tech. Prior to 
joining Market Tech, Mr Butler was the Group Chief Executive 
of Netplay TV, an AIM listed UK interactive TV gaming 
company, where he led a significant turnaround of the 
business.

MR. PETER DOUGLAS ST. JOHN BACON
National Diploma in Hotel Keeping and Catering; 
Stanford Executive Programme

Peter was appointed independent non-executive director and 
Chairman of Atlantic Leaf on 8 July 2014.

Peter has over 40 years’ experience in the hospitality and 
gaming industry and was the Chief Executive of Sun 
International Limited from 1994 until his retirement in 2006. 
He is currently a non-executive director of Sun International 
Limited.

Peter previously served as a director of Woolworths Holdings 
Limited, Chairman of the National Sea Rescue Institute, 
Chairman of Cape Town Routes Unlimited, the destination 
marketing organisation for the Western Cape, and Chairman 
of the Tourism Grading Council of South Africa. He also 
served as a director of South Africa Tourism.

Directors’ interests in shares as at:

28 February 2020

Director
Direct 

interest
Indirect

 interest
Total 

interest

P Bacon – 0.10% 0.10%

N Winearls 0.02% – 0.02%

C Folkes – – –

R Pretorius – – –

L Rapp 0.07% – 0.07%

C Butler – – –

P Leaf-Wright* 0.04% 1.14% 1.18%

M Pryce 0.01% – 0.01%

28 February 2019

Director
Direct 

interest
Indirect

 interest
Total 

interest

P Bacon 0.10% – 0.10%

N Winearls 0.02% – 0.02%

C Folkes – – –

R Pretorius – – –

L Rapp 0.07% – 0.07%

C Butler – – –

P Leaf-Wright* 0.02% 1.06% 1.08%

M Pryce 0.01% – 0.01%

*  Mr. Paul Leaf-Wright indirectly holds shares in the Company which are 
pledged to an external lender as security over a loan with an 
outstanding balance of ZAR 23 512 301 as at 28 February 2020. 
His effective interest which is subject to this security agreement is 
1.05% of total issued ordinary shares, being 1 981 793 shares in total 
(2019: 1 771 793 ordinary shares).
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ONLINE AGM GUIDE 2020
Attending the AGM electronically
We will be conducting a virtual AGM, giving you the opportunity to attend the AGM and participate online, using your 
smartphone, tablet or computer. To do this, you will need to request the Meeting ID at least 48 hours in advance from:  
proxy@computershare.co.za.

If you choose to participate online you will be able to view a live webcast of the AGM, ask the Board questions and submit your 
votes in real time and you will need to either:

a)  Download the Lumi AGM app from the Apple App or Google Play Stores by searching for Lumi AGM.

b)  Visit https://web.lumiagm.com on your smartphone, tablet or computer. You will need the latest versions of Chrome, Safari, 
Internet Explorer 11, Edge and Firefox. Please ensure your browser is compatible.

To login you must have your username and password which you can obtain by registering https://smartagm.co.za/ or which can 
be requested from proxy@computershare.co.za

ANNEXURE 6
ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AT THE AGM
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Using the AGM online facility:

Access Navigation
Once you have either downloaded 
the Lumi AGM app or entered  
web.lumiagm.com into your web 
browser, you’ll be prompted to 
enter the Meeting ID.

You will then be required to enter 
your:

a) Username; and
b) Password.

You will be able to log into 
the site from 08:00 UK time, 
28 August 2020.

To register as a shareholder, select  
‘I have a login’ and enter your 
username and password.

If you are a visitor, select ‘I am a 
guest’. As a guest, you will be 
prompted to complete all the relevant 
fields including; title, first name, last 
name and email address. 

Please note, visitors will not be 
able to ask questions or vote at the 
meeting.

When successfully authenticated, 
the info screen i  will be displayed. 
You can view company information, 
ask questions and watch the 
webcast.

If you would like to watch the 
webcast press the broadcast icon 

   at the bottom of the screen. 

If viewing on a computer the 
webcast will appear at the side 
automatically once the meeting 
has started.
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Voting
The Chairman of the AGM will open 
voting on all resolutions at the start 
of the meeting.

Once the voting has opened, the 
polling icon  will appear on the 
navigation bar at the bottom of the 
screen. From here, the resolutions 
and voting choices will be 
displayed.

To vote, simply select your voting 
direction from the options shown on 
screen. A confirmation message will 
appear to show your vote has been 
received. For – Vote received

To change your vote, simply select 
another direction. If you wish to 
cancel your vote, please press 
Cancel.

Once the Chairman of the AGM has 
opened voting, voting can be 
performed at any time during the 
meeting until the Chairman of the 
AGM closes the voting on the 
resolutions. At that point your last 
choice will be submitted.

You will still be able to send 
messages and view the webcast 
whilst the poll is open.
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Questions Downloads
Any shareholder or appointed 
proxy attending the meeting is 
eligible to ask questions.

If you would like to ask a question, 
select the messaging icon 

Messages can be submitted at any 
time during the Q&A session up 
until the Chairman of the AGM 
closes the session.

Type your message within the chat 
box at the bottom of the messaging 
screen.

Once you are happy with your 
message click the send button.

Questions sent via the Lumi AGM 
online platform will be moderated 
before being sent to the Chairman 
of the AGM. This is to avoid 
repetition and remove any 
inappropriate language.

Links are present on the info screen. 
When you click on a link, the selected 
document will open in your browser.

Data usage for streaming the AGM or 
downloading documents via the AGM 
platform varies depending on 
individual use, the specific device 
being used for streaming or 
download (Android, iPhone, etc) and 
the network connection (3G, 4G).
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ANNEXURE 7
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The reports and statements set out below comprise 
the consolidated annual financial statements 
presented to the shareholders:

19 Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

20 Directors’ Report

22 Independent Auditor’s Report

30 Statement of Financial Position

31 Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

32 Statement of Changes in Equity

33 Statement of Cash Flows

34 Accounting Policies

45 Notes to the Consolidated Annual 
Financial Statements
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf’’ or “the Company’’) are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising the Group’s statements of financial position as at 28 February 2020, 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS’’) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB’’), interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretation Committee (“IFRS IC’’), and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council, the JSE Listings Requirements, the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritius Securities Act 
2005 and SEM Listing Rules.

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website and legislation in 
Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe 
the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP
The annual financial statements of the Group have been approved by the Board of directors on 28 April 2020.

Signed on behalf of the Board by:

  
P E T E R  B A C O N  P A U L  L E A F - W R I G H T
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have the pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 28 February 2020.

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
  On 1 March 2019, the company elected to enter into the UK-Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) regime and redomiciled 

the company from Mauritius to Jersey and is now a public company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies 
(Jersey) Law 1991.

  Atlantic Leaf was established with the principal objective of investing in quality real estate assets that are income yielding 
with the potential of capital appreciation.

  The company is dual-listed with a primary listing on the Main Board of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited (“JSE’’) 
and a secondary listing on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (“SEM’’). The Company converted its 
primary listing on the Official Market of the SEM to a secondary listing effective from 1st March 2019.

  There has been no change to the nature of the business.

2. DISTRIBUTIONS
  The board of directors of Atlantic Leaf are pleased to announce a distribution of 4.5 pence per share for the six months 

ended 28 February 2020, further to a distribution of 4.5 pence per share declared for the six months ended 31 August 
2019.

3. REVIEW OF RESULTS
  The operating results and state of affairs of the Group are fully set out in the attached consolidated financial statements.

4. IMPACT OF COVID-19
  Subsequent to year end, the UK government placed the UK into a state of lock down as a result of the COVID-19 

pandemic. COVID-19 has impacted the lives of people and businesses globally and Atlantic Leaf is no exception.

  The Company’s initial focus was ensuring the safety of its team. The Company’s business continuity plans have been 
enacted and are working in ensuring a seamless continuation of operations despite the Company and its service 
providers working remotely. Whilst Atlantic Leaf does not have any direct employees, its ability to operate relies on its 
Manco, Martial Eagle, continuing to function. All staff are working from home and remain fully functional. Key service 
providers, such as the property manager who supports our rental collections, are also fully operational.

  COVID-19 has placed a strain on the business operations of many companies and as a property company, the ongoing 
ability of our tenants to pay their rent has a natural impact on the cash flows of Atlantic Leaf.

  COVID-19 has resulted in Atlantic Leaf performing further stress testing on its going concern assumptions and the 
cash position over the next twelve months, given the potential for additional stresses on rent collections. As a prudent 
measure in response to the economic environment, the Company has temporarily suspended its acquisition programme 
for additional investment properties. The Company has a strong cash position of GBP 26 million at year end which 
includes the net proceeds from the sale of the DHL warehouse asset. The Company also has GBP 1.6 million of undrawn 
available facilities. The Board are comfortable that there are sufficient resources to ensure that the company can 
continue as a going concern.

  The valuations supporting the Company’s property values were carried out by independent valuers for the year 
ended February 2020. As at year-end there was no evidence of any adverse impact of COVID-19 on these valuations. 
The Company generally has long leases and a significant majority of the rent covering the period March to June 2020 was 
collected within two weeks of the due date. Since the year end,the impact of COVID-19 cannot be reliably determined but 
a higher degree of risk and uncertainty exists in the current market environment.

  Further details on this assumption can be found in the Events after the reporting period note 27.
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5. CONSIDERATION OF BREXIT
  The UK departed from the EU with effect from 31 January 2020. There will now be a transition period from 

31 January 2020 to 31 December 2020. Until the terms of Brexit become clearer the exact outcome on the business, 
if any, cannot be determined.

6. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
  There were no additional shares issued during the year and there are 188 976 628 share in circulation as at 

28 February 2020. Refer to note 10 for details of shares issued. Refer to the integrated report for dealings in 
shares by directors.

7. DIRECTORS
 The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name

Peter Bacon Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Paul Leaf-Wright Chief Executive Officer

Mark Pryce (Appointed 1 June 2019) Financial Director

Cleopatra Folkes Independent Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Winearls Independent Non-Executive Director

Laurence Rapp Non-Executive Director

Rudolf Pretorius Independent Non-Executive Director

Charles Butler (Appointed 9 July 2019) Independent Non-Executive Director

Warren Morton (Resigned 31 May 2019) Financial Director

Kesaven Moothoosamy (Resigned 31 May 2019) Non-Executive Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Atlantic Leaf 
Properties Limited (the “Group”) for the year ended 
28 February 2020 which comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, 
the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of 
Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs 
as at 28 February 2020 and of the Group’s profit for the 
year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board;

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as 
applied to listed entities and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going 
concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and 
include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall 
audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

TO THE MEMBERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED
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Matter How we addressed this risk

INVESTMENT PROPERTY VALUATION 
(NOTE 4) – £334.9M 
The Group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of the 
financial statements states that investment property is 
initially measured at cost and subsequently measured 
at fair value, with any change in the fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. 

The valuation of the Group’s investment properties, as 
detailed in note 4 of the financial statements, is 
inherently subjective and involves significant estimates 
and assumptions made by the directors and 
independent external valuers (the “valuers”), 
particularly in relation to: the selection of valuation 
models; the inputs to those models; and the market 
conditions prevailing at the end of the Group’s 
accounting period. 

The property valuations are prepared by the valuers in 
accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation Standards (the “Red Book”) 
and take into account property-specific information, 
such as current tenancy agreements and rental 
income. Assumptions made for these purposes by the 
directors and valuers include yields and estimated 
market rentals, which are influenced by prevailing 
market yields and comparable market transactions. 

The significance of these estimates and assumptions 
warrants specific audit focus, particularly given small 
changes in individual property valuation estimates and 
assumptions, when aggregated, may have a material 
impact on the financial statements.

We adopted a substantive audit approach to address the 
valuation assertion for investment properties. Our key audit 
procedures included: 

• Agreeing the valuation of all investment properties to the 
valuation reports prepared by the valuers;

• Agreeing the terms of engagement and basis of preparation 
for a sample of valuation reports, through interviews with the 
four valuers;

• Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
the valuers;

• Recalculating key valuation workings;

• Engaging our own expert to evaluate the appropriateness 
of the yield rates used in the valuations and evaluating 
their work;

• Evaluating the key assumptions used in the valuations, 
including the reasonableness of rental income assumptions by 
comparing to 2019 actual results and comparing market rents 
and discount rates used to publicly available industry data;

• Assessing whether the directors have properly considered the 
relevance of valuation assumptions applicable at year-end; and

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures with regards to the 
investment property portfolio in the financial statements.

COVID-19 OUTBREAK (GOING CONCERN 
AND SUBSEQUENT EVENT) 
Since the balance sheet date there has been a global 
pandemic from the outbreak of COVID-19. The 
potential impact of COVID-19 became significant in 
March 2020 and is causing widespread disruption to 
normal patterns of business activity across the world, 
including the UK. 

The directors’ consideration of the impact on the 
financial statements is disclosed in the Director’s 
Report on page 20 and going concern assessment in 
note 27. Whilst the situation is still evolving, based on 
the information available at this point in time, the 
directors have assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the 
business and have concluded that adopting the going 
concern basis of preparation is appropriate. 

As per note 27 to the financial statements, the 
directors have also concluded that COVID-19 is a 
non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

We assessed the directors’ conclusion that the matter be treated 
as a non-adjusting post balance sheet event and that the 
adoption of the going concern basis for preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate. We considered: 

• The timing of the development of the outbreak across the 
world and in the UK, where the Group’s investment properties 
are located; and

• How the financial statements and business operations of the 
Group might be impacted by the disruption. 

In forming our conclusions over going concern, we evaluated 
how the directors’ going concern assessment considered the 
impacts arising from COVID-19 by assessing: 

• How the directors’ going concern assessment considered the 
impacts arising from COVID-19;

• How simulation techniques, including the effect of COVID-19 
based on a “most-likely” (base case) scenario and a “stress 
tested scenario” impacts the directors’ going concern 
assessment;

• The reasonableness of key assumptions in the “base case” 
and the “stress tested scenario”;

• The adequacy and appropriateness of the directors’ disclosure 
in respect of COVID-19 implications, particularly events after 
the reporting period and going concern; and

• Communications from the main funder to the directors to 
determine the likely response in the event of breach by the 
Group of loan to value (“LTV”) covenants.
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Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. 
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures on the Group financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect 
of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. Based on our professional judgement, 
we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality £5,753,000

How we determined it 1.5% of the Group’s total assets

Rationale for benchmark applied We established materiality based on total assets, which is considered appropriate 
given the nature of the Group’s core business and investors will mostly be 
interested in the fair value of the Group’s assets.

Performance materiality £4,027,000

Reporting threshold £173,000

An overview of the scope of our 
audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality 
and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the 
directors made subjective judgements such as making 
assumptions on significant accounting estimates.

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
framework applicable to the Group, the structure of the 
Group and the industry in which it operates. We considered 
the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to the 
applicable laws and regulations including fraud. We 
designed our audit procedures to respond to those 
identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and 
regulations (irregularities) that are material to the 
financial statements.

We focused on laws and regulations that could give rise to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements, including, 
but not limited to, the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. We 
tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed 
sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk 
assessment, our understanding of the Group’s accounting 
processes and controls and its environment and considered 
qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained 
sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items.

Our tests included, but were not limited to, obtaining 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by irregularities including fraud or error, 
review of minutes of directors’ meetings in the year and 
enquiries of management.

The risks of material misstatement, including due to fraud, 
that had the greatest effect on our audit are discussed 
under “Key audit matters” within this report.

Our group audit scope included an audit of the Group 
financial statements of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited. 
Based on our risk assessment, all entities within the Group 
were subject to full scope audit and was performed by the 
Group audit team.

At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process 
and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our 
conclusion that there were no significant risks of material 
misstatement of the aggregated financial information.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report and financial statements, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Group, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 19, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Use of the audit report
This report is made solely to the Group’s members as a 
body in accordance with Article 113A of the Companies 
(Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Group’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Group and the Group’s members as a body for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

R I C H A R D  M E T C A L F E
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants

Tower Bridge House

St Katharine’s Way

London

E1W 1DD

Date: 28 April 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTY INVESTMENTS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial statements in 
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA 
Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA 
Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated annual financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated annual financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matters relate to the Consolidated Annual 
Financial Statements.

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated annual financial 
statements of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (the “Group”) 
set out on pages 30 to 70, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 28 February 2020, and 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated annual financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the group as at 28 February 2020, and 
its consolidated financial performance and consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group in accordance with the sections 
290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the 
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Matter Audit response

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
(NOTE 4)
The Group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of the 
financial statements states that investment 
property is initially measured at cost and 
subsequently measured at fair value with any 
change in the fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The valuation of the Group’s investment properties, 
as detailed in note 4 of the financial statements, is 
inherently subjective and involves significant 
estimates and assumptions made by the directors 
and independent external valuers, particularly in 
relation to: the selection of valuation models; the 
inputs to those models; and current market 
conditions prevailing at the end of the Group’s 
accounting period.

The property valuations are prepared in 
accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (“RICS”) ‘Valuation – Professional 
Standards, the 2012 Edition’ (the “Red Book”) and 
take into account property-specific information, 
such as current tenancy agreements and rental 
income. Assumptions made for these purposes by 
directors and valuers include yields and estimated 
market rentals, which are influenced by prevailing 
market yields and comparable market transactions.

The significance of the estimates and judgements 
involved, including that only a slight percentage 
difference in individual property valuations, 
when aggregated, could result in a material 
misstatement, warrants specific audit focus.

We adopted a substantive audit approach to address the valuation 
assertion for investment properties. Our key audit procedures 
included:

• agreeing the valuation of all investment properties to the valuation 
reports prepared by independent external valuers appointed by 
the directors;

• agreeing the terms of engagement and basis of preparation of 
selected sampled externally prepared property valuation reports, 
through interviews with the four independent external valuers;

• recalculating key valuation workings;

• assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 
appointed management experts;

• engaging our own auditor’s expert to evaluate the appropriateness 
of the yield rates used in the valuations;

• reviewing the conclusions of our own auditor’s expert;

• evaluating the key assumptions used in the external valuations, 
including comparing the rental income used in the valuation 
calculations to actual results and comparing discount rates used to 
publicly available industry data;

• assessing whether the directors have properly considered the 
relevance of valuation assumptions applicable at year-end;

• and assessing the adequacy of disclosures with regards to the 
investment property portfolio in the financial statements. 

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluated the outcomes 
we concluded that our audit procedures appropriately address the 
key audit matter.

COVID-19 OUTBREAK (GOING CONCERN 
AND SUBSEQUENT EVENT)
Subsequent to the year-end, the World Health 
Organisation has declared the outbreak of 
COVID-19 as a global pandemic. Subsequently the 
potential impact of COVID-19 became significant 
and the enforced lockdown is causing widespread 
disruption to normal patterns of business activity 
across the world, including the UK. This has an 
impact on the level of business activity around the 
world, and possibly the ability of companies to 
operate as a going concern.

The directors’ consideration of the impact on the 
financial statements are disclosed in the Director’s 
Report on pages 20 and 21 and going concern 
assessment on pages 69 and 70. Whilst the 
situation is still evolving, based on the information 
currently available, the directors have assessed the 
impact of COVID-19 on the business and have 
concluded that adopting the going concern basis of 
preparation is appropriate.

As per note 27 to the financial statements, the 
directors have also concluded that COVID-19 is a 
non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

We assessed the directors’ conclusion that the matter be treated as a 
non-adjusting post balance sheet event and that the adoption of the 
going concern basis for preparation of the financial statements was 
appropriate. We inspected and assessed:

• the timeline of the outbreak across the world and in the UK, where 
the investment properties of the company are located;

• how the financial statements and business operations of the 
Group might be impacted by the disruption;

• how the directors’ going concern assessment considered the 
impacts arising from COVID-19;

• how simulation techniques including the effect of COVID-19 based 
on a “most-likely” (base case) scenario and a “stress tested 
scenario” impacts the directors’ going concern assessment;

• the reasonableness of key assumptions in the “base case” forecast 
and the “reverse stress tested scenario” forecast;

• the adequacy and appropriateness of the directors’ disclosure in 
respect of COVID-19 implications, in particular disclosures within 
principal risks & uncertainties, post balance sheet events and 
going concern; and

• communications from the funders to determine the likely 
response in the event of breach by the company of loan to value 
(“LTV”) covenants. 

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluated the outcomes 
we concluded that our audit procedures appropriately address the 
key audit matter.
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Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the in Directors’ Report, 
the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and the Company 
Secretary’s Certificate which we obtained prior to the date 
of this report, and the Integrated Annual Report, which is 
expected to be made available to us after that date. The 
other information does not include the consolidated annual 
financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon. Our 
opinion on the consolidated annual financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated annual 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for 
the Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated annual financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated annual financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated annual financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated annual financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated annual financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated annual financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
Mazars has been the auditor of Atlantic Leaf Properties 
Limited for four years.

M A Z A R S
Registered Auditors

Partner: Duncan Dollman

Registered Auditor

28 April 2020

Cape Town
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2020

Figures in GBP Notes 2020 2019

A S S E T S
Non-current assets

Investment properties 4 350 866 859 328 910 000

Listed investments 6 2 926 786 3 617 612

Other receivables 8 154 605 163 661

353 948 250 332 691 273

Current assets

Tax receivable 18 167 538 –

Trade and other receivables 8 2 651 435 3 401 513

Cash and cash equivalents 9 26 157 994 12 597 553

28 976 967 15 999 066

Assets held for sale – 23 000 356

TOTAL ASSETS 382 925 217 371 690 695

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S
Capital and reserves

Stated capital 10 198 467 699 198 467 699

Cash flow hedge reserve 7 (3 247 138) (1 124 297)

Retained earnings/(accumulated loss) 1 239 063 (2 063 544)

Total equity 196 459 624 195 279 858

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 11 155 907 988 163 850 876

Lease liability 12 15 308 632 –

171 216 620 163 850 876

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 4 647 559 4 441 201

Interest bearing borrowings 11 6 537 330 6 296 381

Lease liability 12 633 215 –

Tax payable 18 – 613 862

Derivative financial instruments 7 3 430 869 1 208 517

15 248 973 12 559 961

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 382 925 217 371 690 695
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2020

Figures in GBP Notes 2020 2019

Rental revenue 26 154 412 24 111 358

Straight-line lease income 16 1 837 949 1 520 500

Tenant recoveries 1 249 788 1 228 146

Revenue 29 242 149 26 860 004

Property operating expenses (1 773 277) (2 373 275)

Other operating expenditure (3 128 428) (2 818 787)

Operating income 14 24 340 444 21 667 942

Other income – 140 560

Investment income 15 920 710 435 945

Net profit on disposal of investment property, subsidiary and 
joint venture 2 889 617 249 724

Profit on disposal of listed investment 6 – 128 344

(Loss)/profit on foreign exchange (10 281) 100 252

Impairment of APIL loan 8 (600 000) –

Fair value adjustments 16 (36 445) (9 117 807)

Finance costs 17 (6 831 347) (5 592 367)

Equity accounted profit (net of taxation) – 2 663 929

Profit before taxation 20 672 698 10 676 522

Taxation 18 (78 730) (1 493 442)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 20 593 968 9 183 080

O T H E R  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 7 (2 122 841) (613 032)

Items reclassified through profit or loss – (15 586)

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (2 122 841) (628 618)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 18 471 127 8 554 462

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent 20 593 968 9 183 080

20 593 968 9 183 080

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 18 471 127 8 554 462

18 471 127 8 554 462

Basic and diluted earnings per share (GBP pence) 19 10.90 4.86
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2020

Figures in GBP Notes
Stated 
capital

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

GROUP

B A L A N C E  A T  1  M A R C H  2 0 1 8 198 467 699 (495 679) 6 233 714 204 205 734

Profit for the year – – 9 167 494 9 167 494

Other comprehensive income 7 – (613 032) – (613 032)

Dividends 21.1 – – (17 480 338) (17 480 338)

Items reclassified through profit or loss – (15 586) 15 586 –

B A L A N C E  A T  2 8  F E B R U A R Y  2 0 1 9 198 467 699 (1 124 297) (2 063 544) 195 279 858

Profit for the year – – 20 593 968 20 593 968

Other comprehensive income 7 – (2 122 841) – (2 122 841)

Dividends 21.1 – – (17 291 361) (17 291 361)

BALANCE AT 28 FEBRUARY 2020 198 467 699 (3 247 138) 1 239 063 196 459 624
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2020

Figures in GBP Notes 2020 2019

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  O P E R A T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
Cash generated from operations 21 22 733 319 20 742 469

Interest received 91 353 146 508

Interest paid (6 390 239) (4 901 062)

Tax paid (860 130) (1 722 044)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15 574 303 14 265 871

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
Disposal of joint venture 5 22 626 839 –

Acquisition of investment properties 4 (40 457 852) (15 969 982)

Sale of investment property 4 6 899 548 1 182 724

Sale of listed investments 6 – 3 345 084

Disposal of subsidiary 21.3 19 846 100 –

Dividends received 842 924 4 700 743

NET CASH GENERATED BY/(UTILISED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 9 757 559 (6 741 431)

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
Proceeds from borrowings 21.2 17 764 638 21 808 033

Repayment of borrowings 21.2 (12 160 883) (5 973 289)

Lease liabilities repaid 12 (73 534) –

Dividends paid 21.1 (17 291 361) (17 480 338)

NET CASH UTILISED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (11 761 140) (1 645 594)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 13 570 722 5 878 846

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12 597 553 6 618 455

Effects of exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents (10 281) 100 252

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 9 26 157 994 12 597 553

ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / 33



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
  Atlantic Leaf and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) hold a portfolio of investment properties in the 

United Kingdom. The principal activity of the Group is to invest in high quality, investment grade real estate assets and 
companies which deliver suitable returns for investors through both income and capital growth.

  The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius as a public company limited by shares in accordance with 
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. On 1 March 2019, the company elected to enter into the UK-REIT regime and 
redomiciled the company from Mauritius to Jersey and is now a public company limited by shares in accordance with 
the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

  The Company has primary listings on the Main Board of the JSE and a secondary listing on the Official Market of the SEM. 
The Company is managed by Martial Eagle Limited, a company registered in Mauritius.

  The subsidiaries derive rental income from investment properties.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation 
Committee (“IFRS IC”), and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, 
the JSE Listings Requirements, the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritius Securities Act 
2005 and SEM Listing Rules.

  Income and cash flow statement
  The Group has elected to present a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and presents its 

expenses by nature. The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method. Interest received 
and interest paid is presented within operating cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as 
cash flows from investing activities because this most appropriately reflects the Group’s business activities.

  Preparation of the consolidated financial statements
  The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, applying a historical cost convention, except for 

the measurement of investment properties, investments and derivative financial instruments that have been measured 
at fair value.

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions are 
changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in note 3.1.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated annual financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
  The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting 
period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Although the 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgements of facts at the reporting date, the actual 
outcome may differ from those estimates.

  These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and any future periods.

Ms. Cleopatra Liana Folkes
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.1  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued

  JUDGEMENTS
  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(i)  Business combination versus asset acquisition
  The directors consider various factors to determine whether a property acquisition constitutes the acquisition of a 

business as defined in IFRS 3 or an acquisition of property. A business is defined as an integrated set of activities and 
assets capable of being conducted and managed to provide returns in the form of dividends, lower cost or other 
economic benefits directly to investors or other owners. A business consists of inputs and processes, which when 
applied together create outputs.

  Inputs are determined to be the properties or tenants as these are “an economic resource that creates, or has the ability 
to create, outputs”. Processes include (but are not limited) to lease management, selection of tenants, marketing 
decisions, investment decisions, billing and collection of rent as these represent “any system, standard, protocol, 
convention or rule that when applied to the input creates or has the ability to create outputs”.

  Properties are typically bought independent of processes or business operations. As such these would be determined to 
be an acquisition of property, as opposed to a business as defined and would thus be accounted for in terms of IAS 40, 
Investment Property. Where the directors have acquired the associated business processes along with the inputs such as 
property, these are accounted for in terms of IFRS 3, Business Combinations.

(ii)  Determination of functional currency
  The primary objective of the Group is to generate returns and capital growth in Pound Sterling (“GBP”) for the benefit of 

its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Group and the cash flows are predominantly GBP denominated and 
GBP is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Group’s performance is 
evaluated in GBP. Management, therefore considers GBP as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic 
effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

(iii)  Agent or Principal – Municipal cost recoveries
  The substance of the agreements and contracts with each tenant have been assessed in the determination of the Group 

acting as the Agent or the Principal and the implications of the decision in terms of revenue recognition. The Group has 
considered who has the primary responsibility to provide the services to the tenants. Given the tenants contract with the 
Group, the Group as such bears the primary responsibility to provide services and therefore has determined that it is 
acting as the Principal in providing services to the tenants. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the 
Group recognises revenue as the gross amount of consideration it expects to be entitled in exchange for the services.

(iv)  Presentation of consolidated financial statements
  Atlantic Leaf owns 100% of its subsidiaries and therefore the Directors have determined that the disclosure of separate 

holding company accounts does not offer significant additional information to the users of the financial statements.

(v)  Leases
  The Group is party to a number of leasing contracts entered into on leasehold properties and therefore as a 

consequence, the Group is party to a corresponding head lease agreement. The Group is a lessee of the underlying land 
and accordingly recognises a right-of-use asset in terms of accounting policy 3.4. All subleases are classified as operating 
leases as the terms of the subleases are not for the major part of the life of the right-of-use assets.

(vi)  Impact of COVID-19
  Refer to note 27 for consideration of the impact of COVID-19.

Ms. Cleopatra Liana Folkes
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.1  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued

  ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

(i)  Fair value of financial instruments
  Refer to note 24 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing assets and liabilities.

(ii)  Fair value of investment properties
  Refer to note 4 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing investment properties.

(iii)  Taxes
  The subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining 

the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The subsidiaries recognise liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the 
period in which such determination is made.

3.2 Business combinations
  SUBSIDIARIES
  Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group. Control is assumed when the Group:

• has the power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to the variable returns;

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

  The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is accounted for at fair value. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

  The excess of the consideration transferred at the acquisition date over the fair value of the identifiable net asset 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration transferred is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is regarded as a bargain purchase and is recognised directly in the income statement. 
Non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition date at either fair value or at the non-controlling interests share 
of identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is on a transaction by transaction basis as determined by 
the directors.

  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

  All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the group are eliminated on consolidation.

  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins on the acquisition date, when the entity has control over the subsidiary, and ceases 
when the Company loses control over the entity. Income and expenses of the acquired subsidiary are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date of control till the date when the 
control ceases. These are attributable to both the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

  Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. Where the group loses control, an amount shall be included in profit or loss as calculated for the 
difference in aggregate fair value of consideration and the previous carrying amount of any assets, liabilities and 
non-controlling interests as well as any goodwill. Any amounts recognised previously in other comprehensive income 
should be accounted as if there was a direct disposal, and thus reclassified to profit and loss when permitted.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.2 Business combinations continued

  JOINT VENTURES
  Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is 

initially recognised at cost including transaction costs.

  Following initial recognition the Group’ share of profit and loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture is 
separately presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Dividend income from the 
investment will reduce the carrying amount.

  At the date the joint venture is reclassified as an asset held for sale it is no longer accounted for under the equity 
method. Dividends received following reclassification to asset held for sale but prior to disposal are recognised as 
dividend income. Gains or losses arising on disposal of the joint venture are recognised in the profit and loss, measured 
as the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amount.

3.3 Investment properties
  Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the 

companies in the Group, is classified as investment property.

  Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs. Refer to note 4.

  After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value and changes in fair values are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss.

  Investment properties are derecognised when they have been disposed. Gains or losses arising on disposal of the 
investment property are recognised in profit and loss, measured as the difference between disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount.

  The right of use asset at the initial date of recognition is recognised at cost. The cost comprises of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives 
received and any initial direct costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, the right of use asset is carried at fair value and 
fair value changes are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

3.4 Leases
  The Group has applied IFRS 16 modified retrospective approach for the financial year and as such has not restated 

comparative information and therefore the comparatives are presented under IAS 17. The details of the accounting 
policies under both IAS 17 and IFRS 16 are presented separately below.

(i)  Lessor
  The Group is party to numerous leasing contracts as lessor of property. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 

does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as a finance lease if 
it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All of the Group’s leases are operating leases.

  Contractual rental income relating to investment properties held directly by the Group is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the period from acquisition date of such investment property to the end of the relevant lease term. Where 
leases are terminated the lease cancellation amount is recognised immediately as revenue. Any direct costs incurred in 
obtaining the lease are capitilised to the carrying value of the asset, and recognised as an expense over the lease term 
on the same basis as rental income.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.4 Leases continued

(ii)  Lessee
  The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract. The Group recognises a 

right of use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangement which it is lessee. All lease 
contracts relate to head lease agreements where the Group is a lessee of the underlying land. The Group accounts for 
these leases in terms of the new IFRS 16 standard recognising aright of use asset and a corresponding lease liability.

  Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of future lease payments not yet paid, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease, if readily determined, otherwise at the group’s incremental borrowing rate.

  Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• Fixed lease payments, less any lease incentive receivable;

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under the residual guarantees; and

• The exercise price of purchase options, if reasonably certain the group will exercise these before the options 
terminate.

  After initial recognition, lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount for accrued interest on the lease 
liability, reducing the carrying amount by any lease payments, and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any 
changes from any reassessments, lease modifications or revision of fixed lease payments. The Group remeasures the 
lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset) whenever:

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstance resulting in a change in the 
assessment of exercise or purchase options;

• The variable lease payments change due to change in index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guarantee residual value. The revised payments will be discounted using the unchanged discount rate, unless these 
are changes are due to a change in floating interest, in which case a revised rate is used; and

• A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. The lease liability is 
remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate from the date of modification.

  The Group has used several practical expedients when applying the modified retrospective approach to previously 
classified as operating leases under IAS 17:

• A single discount rate has been applied to a portfolio of leases as they have reasonably similar characteristics;

• Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right of use asset at the date of the initial 
application;

• The definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 will continue to be applied to those leases entered before 
1 March 2019. The definition per IFRS 16 will be used for leases entered after 1 March 2019, however the change in 
definition does not significantly change the scope of the contracts that meet the definition of a lease to the Group.

  Prior to the adoption of IFRS 16 the head leases that the Group is party to were classified as operating leases under 
IAS 17. Lease payments were recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless another 
systematic basis was more representative of the time pattern of the Group’s benefit. The lease payments were 
recognised in property expenses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.5 Financial instruments
  FINANCIAL ASSETS
  The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following categories:

• financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss (designated at fair value through profit or 
loss in the prior year under IAS 39) and

• financial assets measured at amortised cost (classified as loans and receivables in the prior year under IAS 39)

  The Group’s financial assets are classified as follows:

• Listed investments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9. The Group invests in 
listed shares with a view to profiting from their total return in the form of dividends and fair value. In the prior year, 
these investments were designated at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39;

• Loans receivable are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables in the prior year 
under IAS 39);

• Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables in the 
prior year under IAS 39;

• Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as financial assets measured at amortised 
cost (loans and receivables in the prior year under IAS 39; and

• Deposits paid that represent a contractual right to cash are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost 
(loans and receivables in the prior year under IAS 39). Deposits paid that do not represent a contractual right to cash 
are presented separately from financial instruments.

  Impairment – trade receivables
  The impairment model under IFRS 9 requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on expected credit losses 

(“ECL”) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under IAS 39.

  The Group applies a simplified approach and measures the expected impairment loss as lifetime expected credit losses. 
Under this approach,historical credit losses over a set period up to the reporting date, and forward-looking 
macroeconomic factors, are considered as inputs. These are used to determine ECLs that result from default events that 
are possible over the total expected lifetime of the receivables. These receivables contained no financing component.

  Utilities: Includes gas, water and electricity costs recharged to tenants. The lifetime expected credit loss is calculated 
using a provision matrix that calculates the impairment loss based on the default rate percentage applied to the trade 
receivables.

  The period of historical credit losses considered is the 12-months up to the reporting date. This period is judged to be 
most appropriate for estimation of recent payment trends. Historical recovery of these receivables is broken down into 
the following categories: 0 – 30 days, 31 – 60 days, 61 – 180 days, 181 – 360 days, and >365 days. The default rate for 
each recovery period is calculated as the historical default loss divided by the amount outstanding at the end of each 
time bucket. The historical default rates are then adjusted by any applicable forward-looking information and these 
expected default rates are subsequently applied to receivables.

  Rental Receivables: A large proportion of rental earned by Atlantic Leaf is payable quarterly in advance. Atlantic Leaf 
considers any rental that has not been received within 90 days to be fully impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.5 Financial instruments continued

  Impairment – other receivables
  The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) when there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, then the loss allowance for that loan is measured at 12 month expected credit 
losses (12 month ECL).

  Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a loan. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
on a loan that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

  In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12 month ECL, in other words, whether or not there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group considers whether there has been a significant 
increase in the risk of a default occurring since initial recognition rather than at evidence of a loan being credit impaired 
at the reporting date or of an actual default occurring.

  In assessing whether the credit risk on a loan has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the 
risk of a default occurring on the loan as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring as at the date of initial 
recognition. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

  This information includes budgets and forecasts and the financial health of the entity, as well as the future prospects of 
the property industry.

  Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the credit risk on a loan is always presumed to have increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the group has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

  The Group considers that a default event has occurred if there is either a breach of financial covenants by the borrower, 
or if internal or external information indicates that the borrower is unlikely to pay its creditors in full (without taking 
collateral into account).

  Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a loan is more than 90 days past 
due.

  The group writes off a loan when there is information indicating that the borrower is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the borrower has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings.

  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (held-for-trading) or other 

liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial liabilities.

  The Group’s financial liabilities are classified as follows:

• Interest bearing borrowings are classified as other financial liabilities at amortised cost;

• Derivatives comprising interest rate swaps are held-for-trading financial instruments measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. The Group applies hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9; and

• Trade and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.5 Financial instruments continued

  INTEREST RATE SWAPS
  The Group enters into interest swap agreements, some of which are designated as cash flow hedges. For interest rate 

swap agreements not designated as cash flow hedges any fair value movements are recognised in the profit and loss 
through fair value in accordance with IFRS 9.

  At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the economic relationship between hedging instruments 
and hedged items including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are expected to offset 
changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The group documents its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking its hedge transactions.

  The following accounting policy applies for interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges:

  The effective portion of changes in the fair value of interest rate swap agreements that are designated and qualify as 
cash flows hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion (if 
any) is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the related interest payment is recognised in 
profit and loss.

  When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging 
that were reported inequity are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

  Note 7 sets out the details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.

3.6 Stated capital
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.7 Taxation
  CURRENT INCOME TAX
  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operate and generate 
taxable income.

  Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity through other comprehensive income is recognised in 
equity and not in the statement of profit or loss.

  The Group periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and estimate payables where appropriate.

ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / 41



ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.8 Revenue recognition
  Revenue is recognised when there is a transfer of control of a promised product or service to a customer. Revenue is 

measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and 
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

  INTEREST INCOME
  Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective 

interest method. Interest income has been disclosed in investment income.

  RENTAL INCOME
  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group provides 

incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives is recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis.

  DIVIDEND INCOME
  Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date the Group’s or Company’s right to 

receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is usually the ex-dividend date. Dividend income 
has been disclosed in investment income.

  TENANT RECOVERIES
  Tenant recoveries are recognised on a contractual basis in terms of the invoice date for the supply services such as 

utilities to the tenants. The Group bears the primary responsibility to provide such services over time to the tenants 
based on the contract that each tenant has with the Group as landlord.

3.9 Expense recognition
  All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

  PROPERTY EXPENSES
  Property expenses comprise all direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from investment 

property during the period. Where costs relating to obtaining a new lease have been capitalised, these are recognised as 
an expense over the lease term.

  INTEREST EXPENSE
  Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective 

interest rate method. This includes interest from the head leases recognised as lease liability (previously recognised 
accrued within property expenses).

3.10 Foreign currency translation
  Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains 

and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transaction.

3.11 Dividend distribution
  Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements on the 

date which the dividend is due to be paid to the Group’s shareholders, as well as directly in equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.12 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED PRONOUNCEMENTS
  In the current year, the Group has adopted all new and revised IFRSs as issued by the IASB and the IFRS Interpretations 

Committee that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 28 February 2020. 
The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs has not resulted in changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2020, the following IFRSs were 
adopted:

Details of 
Standard Details Impact

IFRS 16 (Leases) 
Effective as from 
1 January 2019

New standard that introduces 
a single accounting model for 
lessees, while the accounting 
for lessors is left largely 
unchanged from its 
predecessor (IAS 17 Leases). 
Lessee will be required to 
recognise “Right to use assets”

The adoption of IFRS 16 has resulted in the recognition of 
a lease liability and a corresponding right of use asset. 
The model reflects that, at the start of the lease, the 
lessee obtains the right to use an asset for a period of 
time and has an obligation to pay for that right.

A small number of leasing contracts entered into are 
leasehold properties and therefore as a consequence, the 
Group is party to a corresponding head lease agreement. 
The Group is a lessee of the underlying land and will 
account for these leases in terms of the new IFRS 16 
standard and a right of use asset and a corresponding 
lease liability has been recognised from 1 March 2019.

The lease right to use assets are amortised over their 
useful lives. The fair value of the right of use asset is 
considered to be equal to the lease liability, as such fair 
value movements are recognised in line with the 
amortisation of the lease liability. Management has 
performed a preliminary analysis, and based on 
assumptions as at 1 March 2019, has determined the 
effect to be as follows, given the current operating head 
leases within the portfolio:

Right to Use Asset: GBP 16 million

Lease Liabilities: GBP 16 million

The statement of comprehensive income was decreased 
by £53 000, this is a result of an interest expense being 
recognised and the movement in the fair value of the 
right of use asset.

Basic and diluted EPS was decreased by 0.02 (GBP pence).

Management has assessed the subleases and determined 
that none of these account for major part of the 
underlying headlease.

In adopting this standard the Group applied the modified 
retrospective approach. The present value of the lease 
liabilities has been determined at the company’s 
incremental borrowing rate as at 1 March 2019.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.12 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures continued

 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
  The Group has not applied the following new, revised or amended pronouncements that have been issued as they are 

not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 March 2020 (the list does not include information about new 
requirements that affect interim financial reporting or first-time adopters of IFRS since they are not relevant to the 
Group). The Board anticipates that the new standards, amendments and interpretations will be adopted in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements when they become effective.

Details of Standard Details Impact

Amendments to 
IFRS 3 – Definition 
of a business 
Effective as from 
1 January 2020

The amendment clarifies that while a 
business has outputs, outputs are not 
required for an integrated set of 
activities and assets to qualify as a 
business. To be considered a business 
an acquired set of activities and assets 
must include, at a minimum, an input 
and a substantive process that together 
significantly contribute to the ability to 
create outputs.

Currently the Group has determined that 
properties are typically bought independent 
of processes or business operations. As such 
these would be determined to be an 
acquisition of property, as opposed to a 
business as defined and would thus be 
accounted for in terms of IAS 40, Investment 
Property. Where the directors have acquired 
the associated business processes along with 
the inputs such as property, these are 
accounted for in terms of IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations.

The amendment introduces an optional 
concentration test that permits a 
simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is 
not a business. Under the optional 
concentration test, the acquired set of 
activities and assets is not a business if 
substantially all of the fair value of the 
gross assets acquired is concentrated in 
a single identifiable asset or group of 
similar assets.

The amendment will be applied prospectively 
to all business combinations and asset 
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is 
after the first annual reporting period. The 
Group will have to apply this on a case by 
case basis, as the simplified concentration 
test can be applied on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. The new definition and 
simplified test, would lead to a similar 
determination of business combination vs 
asset acquisition which is currently being 
applied, particularly given the Group’s nature 
of purchasing investment property.

As such the adoption of this amendment is 
not expected to have a significant impact on 
the Group.

Amendments to 
IAS 1 and IAS 8 – 
Definition of 
material  
Effective as from 
1 January 2020

The amendment is intended to make the 
definition of material in IAS 1 easier to 
understand, without intending to alter 
the underlying concept of materiality. 
The definition in IAS has been replaced 
by a reference to the definition of 
material in IAS 1.

Given the concept of materiality hasn’t 
changed, the adoption of this amendment is 
not expected to have significant impact on 
the Group, or its assessment of disclosure 
from a materiality perspective.

The threshold for materiality influencing 
user has been changed from “could 
influence” to “could reasonably be 
expected to influence”.

  There are no other standards that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group 
in the current or future reporting periods and on the foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2020

4. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Investment properties at fair value 350 866 859 328 910 000

Movement for the year

At beginning of the year 328 910 000 319 404 723

Purchase of investment properties (including related transaction costs) 40 457 852 15 969 982

Disposal of investment properties (6 884 093) (933 000)

Disposal of subsidiary (29 247 491) –

Changes in fair value (Note 16) 1 688 732 (5 531 705)

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 334 925 000 328 910 000

Right of use asset – land leased

IFRS 16 Right of use asset recognised 16 071 119 –

Change in fair value (Note 16) (129 260) –

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 15 941 859 –

 Valuation assumptions
  Independent valuations are carried out by Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) regulated external valuers, 

who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued and on the basis of 
‘Market Value’, in accordance with the current Practice Statements contained within the RICS ‘Valuation – Professional 
Standards, the 2012 Edition’ (the “Red Book”). This is an internationally accepted basis of valuation.

  In accordance with RICS, the Investment Method is used to value properties which are income producing future cash 
flows through the letting of properties. Conventionally, investment value is a product of rent and yield. Each of these 
elements is derived using comparison techniques within the relevant property markets and sectors.

  Discounted cash flow (“DCF”) techniques are also frequently used in the appraisal of investment property and again 
comparison is used to derive values for many of the key inputs in the calculation including not only rent and yield but 
also the growth rate, discount rate, costs and disposal price.

  All valuations are reviewed by management semi annually, taking into account market forces such as yield movement, 
occupier and investor sentiment, supply and demand as well as other valuation principles to establish whether there is 
likely to be a material change in asset values. The reviews are carried out by management and approved by the Board of 
Directors. An external desktop valuation, in accordance with RICS standards, is carried out at least every 12 months. 
A full Red Book valuation is done on all of the properties every 3 years. Changes to key inputs may result in a valuation 
at year end that differs from the last external valuation.

  All of the investment properties have been pledged to secure the existing borrowings of GBP 161.4 million (2019: 
GBP 168.9 million). Refer to note 11.

  Refer to the supplementary schedules for details of investment properties and rentals.

  The average forward yield (cap rate) on investment properties at 28 February 2020 is 7.05% (2019: 7.24%).

  For information about fair value adjustments using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), refer to note 24 for fair 
value classification.

  The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement are capitalisation rate and vacancy levels, 
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s property portfolio together with the impact of 
significant movements in these inputs on the fair value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

4. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES continued
 The effect of a change in capitalisation rate of 50 basis points is detailed in the table below:

Country Category
Valuation

GBP

Range of 
unobservable

 inputs 
(cap rates)

Effect of 
a change in

 capitalisation
 rate GBP

UK Retail Warehouse 4 350 000 6.00% – 7.00% 387 431

UK Industrial 258 940 000 5.60% – 14.05% 21 151 510

UK Office 71 635 000 2.70% – 9.10% 6 432 607

334 925 000 27 971 548

The effect of a change in vacancy level for 10% decrease on the current portfolio of investment property is 
detailed in the table below:

Country Category
Valuation

GBP
Existing

vacancy rate

Effect of
a change

in vacancy
level GBP

UK Retail Warehouse 4 350 000 0.00% 157 500

UK Industrial 258 940 000 0.30% 9 873 500

UK Office 71 635 000 29.40% 1 723 000

334 925 000 11 754 000

The current portfolio has an existing vacancy rate as at 28 February 2020 of 2.7% (2019: 3.0%) based on 
GLA (sq ft).

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Future rent receivable

Future minimum rent receivable due as follows:

– 1 year 24 465 075 24 648 261

– 2 years 24 450 066 24 368 295

– 3 years 23 888 573 24 288 529

– 4 years 21 014 982 23 769 018

– 5 years 20 322 111 21 491 841

– later than 5 years 98 276 795 108 601 351

TOTAL 212 417 602 227 167 295

  The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating leases, 
all rental income generated in the year is from the leasing of investment properties. The Group has determined that 
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for contracts as 
operating leases.
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5. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

Entity name
Country 
incorporated

Percentage holding Carrying value of investment

2020 2019 2020 2019

LMP Retail Warehouse JV 
Property Unit Trust Guernsey 0.00% 45.02% – 23 000 356

On 23 April 2019 the Group disposed of its 45.02% holding in LMP Retail Warehouse JV Property Unit Trust, the Group 
recognised a loss on sale of its interest in the joint venture of GBP 1 390 704.

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

At beginning of the year 23 000 356 25 766 250

Share of profit – 2 663 929

Disposals (24 017 569) –

Change in fair value 1 017 213 (1 017 213)

Distributions received – (4 412 610)

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR – 23 000 356

6. LISTED INVESTMENTS
  Listed security investments are categorised as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair 

values of the listed security investments are determined based on quoted prices in active markets. The list of 
investments are provided below:

  The following table indicates the Group’s investment holdings by market value as at year end:

Figures in GBP

Number of ordinary shares Fair value

2020 2019 2020 2019

Name of investee Company

Hammerson Plc 94 109 94 109 196 312 359 214

Klepierre 10 494 10 494 243 928 276 328

Land Securities Group Plc 117 842 117 842 983 509 1 060 107

British Land Company Limited 179 678 179 678 900 187 1 085 614

Unibail Rodamco 5 228 5 228 490 227 636 959

Wereldhave NV 9 060 9 060 112 623 199 390

2 926 786 3 617 612

Figures in GBP

Fair value

2020 2019

Balance at the beginning of year 3 617 612 7 154 208

Disposals – (3 345 084)

Profit on disposal – 128 344

Fair value adjustments (690 826) (319 856)

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 2 926 786 3 617 612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
  In accordance with the terms of the borrowing arrangements and group policy, the subsidiaries have entered into 

interest rate swap agreements. The interest rate swap agreements are entered into by the borrowing entities to convert 
the borrowings from floating to fixed interest rates and are used to manage the interest rate profile of financial liabilities 
and eliminate future exposure to interest rate fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy that no economic trading in 
derivatives is undertaken.

  The following tables set out the interest rate swap agreements at 28 February 2020.

Counterparty Company Fixed basis
Swap
end date Nominal

Fair value

2020

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited* 1.60% 16/10/2020 20 000 000 150 197

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited* 1.43% 10/10/2022 15 636 175 694 691

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited 0.59% 10/10/2022 3 000 000 8 106

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.44% 10/10/2023 23 196 127 797 334

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.31% 23/03/2021 4 417 500 39 314

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.31% 23/03/2021 5 937 825 52 978

HSBC Trido Limited 0.57% 10/10/2023 10 000 000 31 640

HSBC Lexo Limited* 1.43% 10/10/2023 26 984 598 906 746

Santander ALP IOM Limited* 1.42% 06/12/2023 18 117 750 608 306

Santander ALP IOM Limited 0.70% 10/10/2023 5 000 000 40 311

Lloyds Basswood* 0.71% 02/08/2022 18 000 000 101 246

3 430 869

Interest accrual (183 731)

3 247 138

 The following tables set out the interest rate swap agreements at 28 February 2019.

Counterparty Company Fixed basis
Swap
end date Nominal

Fair value

2019

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited* 1.60% 16/10/2020 20 000 000 215 399

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited* 1.43% 10/10/2022 15 636 175 203 856

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.44% 10/10/2023 23 577 333 251 587

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.31% 23/03/2021 4 560 000 27 807

HSBC Trido Limited* 1.31% 23/03/2021 6 130 725 37 638

HSBC Lexo Limited* 1.43% 10/10/2023 27 709 208 288 580

Santander ALP IOM Limited* 1.42% 06/12/2023 18 817 750 183 650

1 208 517

Interest accrual (84 220)

1 124 297

  Refer to note 23.1(b) for interest rate risk sensitivity analysis.

  Derivative financial liabilities comprise of interest rate swaps and are measured at the present value of future cash flows 
estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.
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7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

  *Hedge accounting
  Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective 

effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument.

  The Group enters into interest rate swaps that have similar critical terms as the hedged item, such as reference rate, 
reset dates, payment dates, maturities and notional amount. The Group does not hedge 100% of its loans, therefore the 
hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding loans up to the notional amount of the swaps. As all critical 
terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100% effective.

  Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps is assessed using the hypothetical derivative method. It may occur due to:

• the credit value/debit value adjustment on the interest rate swaps which is not matched by the loan; and

• differences in critical terms between the interest rate swaps and loans.

  There was no ineffectiveness during the current or prior year in relation to the interest rate swaps designated as cash 
flow hedges. 

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Other receivables 2 485 665 3 247 344

– Non-current 154 605 163 661

– Current (Refer to note 26 for further details) 2 331 060 3 083 683

Trade receivables 258 100 175 152

Prepayments 47 445 133 046

Other 14 830 9 632

2 806 040 3 565 174

  As at 28 February 2020, none of the receivables are past due and there are no material impairment provisions for 
expected credit losses. The loss allowance on the Atlantic Property Investments Limited loan (Refer to note 26 for further 
details) is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. The decline in the share price has indicated 
an increase in credit risk and the recognition of a loss allowance of GBP 600 000. This impairment has been calculated 
with reference to the weighted average JSE share price over the expected period it would take Atlantic Leaf Property 
Investments Limited to sell its shares in Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited. The expected period is based on the trading 
volume of the shares of Atlantic Leaf Limited on the JSE up to 28 February 2020.

  Trade receivables aging at year end was as follows:

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

0 to 30 days 188 303 95 203

31 to 60 days 43 565 78 771

61 to 180 days 26 232 1 178

180 to 360 days – –

258 100 175 152

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Bank balances 26 157 994 12 597 553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

10. STATED CAPITAL  

Issued and fully paid

28 February 2020 28 February 2019
Number of

ordinary
shares

Net amount
after costs

Number of
ordinary

shares
Net amount

after costs

At the beginning of the year 188 976 628 198 467 699 188 976 628 198 467 699

At the end of the year 188 976 628 198 467 699 188 976 628 198 467 699

  The ordinary shares are at no par value and each confers on the holder, one voting right, right to dividend and right to 
an equal share in the distribution of surplus of assets of the Company.

  The unissued shares of 100 000 000 are under the control of the directors of the Company.

11. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Non-current 155 907 988 163 850 876

Current 6 537 330 6 296 381

162 445 318 170 147 257

 NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT

Funder Name of borrower Interest rate
Facility
end date 2020 2019

Santander Bank ALP IOM Limited LIBOR + 2.15% 16/12/2023 25 592 949 26 508 409

HSBC Bank Farringdon Properties Limited LIBOR + 1.95% 10/10/2022 31 115 725 32 243 841

Farringdon Properties Limited LIBOR + 1.95% 10/10/2022 8 100 422 15 000 000

Lexo Limited LIBOR +2.10% 10/10/2023 26 783 374 27 457 887

Trido Limited LIBOR +2.10% 10/10/2023 23 268 586 23 820 102

Trido Limited LIBOR +2.10% 10/10/2023 14 999 996 15 000 000

Trido Limited LIBOR + 1.60% 22/03/2021 5 855 073 6 029 234

Trido Limited LIBOR + 1.70% 22/03/2021 7 845 483 8 081 082

Basswood Limited LIBOR +1.80% 02/08/2022 17 848 664 –

AX Markets 
underwritten 
through  
Interactive  
Brokers LLC Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited 0.99% * N/A 1 035 046 1 189 307

162 445 318 155 329 862

*  This is a variable rate.
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11. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS continued

Funder Name of borrower Interest rate
Facility
end date 2020 2019

Fixed rate loans

Non-current and 
current

Aviva Commercial 
Finance Limited Hyder Limited 2.15% 25/11/2021 – 14 817 395

TOTAL VARIABLE AND FIXED 162 445 318 170 147 257

  The Group had undrawn facilities at year end of GBP 1 599 250 (2019: GBP 0).

  Interest costs may increase or decrease as a result of changes in the interest rates. Debt facilities have been hedged 
using interest rate swap agreements as per note 7. The weighted average floating rates were at LIBOR plus a margin of 
1.99% (2019: 2. 02%). Refer to note 23.1(b) for details on Group interest rate risk management.

  Transaction costs capitalised to the cost of debt that are amortised over the term of the loan amounted to GBP 302 001 
in the current financial year (2019: GBP 1 713 844).

  Investment properties have been pledged to secure borrowings. Refer to note 4.

  Borrowing powers
  The borrowing capacity of the Company and its subsidiaries is unlimited in terms of their Memorandum of Incorporation.

12. LEASE LIABILITY
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

IFRS 16 Lease liability recognised 16 015 392 –

Interest 559 667 –

Lease payments (633 212) –

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 15 941 847 –

Lease liabilities are due as follows:

Not later than one year 633 215 –

Between one and five years 2 532 860 –

After five years 12 775 772 –

15 941 847 –

The Group recognised a lease liability as result of adopting IFRS 16 during the 
year. An incremental borrowing rate of 3.5% based on the Groups cost of 
funding has been used in calculating the lease liability.

Contractual undiscounted cash flows are as follows:

Not later than one year 633 215 –

Between one and five years 2 532 860 –

After five years 41 037 297 –

TOTAL 44 203 372 –

Reconciliation of lease commitments from IAS 17 to IFRS 16:

Operating lease commitments before discounting as at 1 March 2019 44 836 587 –

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (28 821 195) –

Lease liability as at 1 March 2019 16 015 392 –
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Accruals 310 371 171 802

Rent received in advance 1 667 904 1 840 422

Trade payables 1 092 886 570 068

Value Added Tax 873 473 1 148 860

Accrued interest 642 006 664 698

Other 60 919 45 351

4 647 559 4 441 201

14. NET INCOME
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Net income is arrived at after taking into account the following items:

Directors’ emoluments

– Directors fees 170 918 117 500

Operating lease charges

Premises – 5 103

Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income

Security 21 966 112 114

Insurance – 42 656

21 966 154 770

These relate to costs for vacant periods during the year at Brecon and Peterborough.

15. INVESTMENT INCOME
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Dividend income – listed investments 223 900 288 133

Dividend income – joint venture 619 000 –

Interest on bank balances 41 539 44 545

Interest earned on loan facilities. Refer to note 26. 36 271 103 267

920 710 435 945

Investment income is derived from financial assets as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 77 810 147 812

Financial assets measured at fair value 842 900 288 133

920 710 435 945
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16. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Fair value adjustments to investment properties (Note 4) 1 688 732 (5 531 705)

Fair value gain on investment properties 17 102 284 4 192 560

Fair value loss on investment properties (15 413 552) (9 724 265)

Straight line lease adjustments (1 837 949) (1 520 500)

Fair value adjustment on right of use asset (129 260) –

Fair value adjustment on listed investments (Note 6) (690 826) (319 856)

Fair value adjustment on debt: IFRS 9 Debt modification – (744 119)

Fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps (84 355) 15 586

Fair value adjustment on asset held for sale (Note 5) 1 017 213 (1 017 213)

(36 445) (9 117 807)

17. FINANCE COSTS
Figures in GBP 2020 2019
Interest on loan facilities 5 532 904 5 022 978

Other interest 12 165 14 963

Interest on interest rate swaps 726 611 554 426

Interest on lease liability 559 667 –

6 831 347 5 592 367

Finance costs were derived from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

18. TAXATION
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Non-resident Landlord Tax 31 423 1 431 955

Withholding tax 47 307 61 487

78 730 1 493 442

 CORPORATE TAXATION
  As a UK REIT, the Company does not pay UK direct taxes on the income and gains from its qualifying UK Property Rental 

Business. Instead,shareholders are broadly taxed on the distributions they receive as if they held the property directly 
by way of a UK withholding tax, generally at a rate of 20%. Residual income and gains that aren’t derived from the 
Company’s Property Rental Business are subject to corporate tax at the company level, currently at a rate of 19%. 
Distributions of such residual profits and gains are not subject to a UK withholding tax.

  The tax charge recognised in the year is comprised entirely of prior adjustments related to the final 2019 non-resident 
landlord tax returns submitted during the year. There is no tax charge relating to income derived in the year ended 
28 February 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

18. TAXATION continued

 FACTORS AFFECTING THE TAX CHARGE FOR THE YEAR
  The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporate tax in the UK. The differences are 

explained below:

Figures in GBP 2020

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 20 672 698

Theoretical tax at UK corporate tax rate of 19% 3 927 813

Prior period adjustments 31 423

REIT exempt income (4 113 339)

Non-taxable items 115 648

Residual losses 69 878

Total tax charge 31 423

  Non taxable items include income and gains that are not taxable for corporate tax purposes other than property rental 
income exempt from UK corporate tax in accordance with Part 12 of CTA 2010.

  REIT exempt income includes property rental income that is exempt from UK corporate tax in accordance with Part 12 
of CTA 2010.

 TAX RECONCILIATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019
Figures in GBP 2019
Normal taxation rate 20.00%

Profit before tax 10 676 522

Tax calculated at the rate of 20% 2 135 304

Income not subject to tax (256 409)

– Fair value movements 1 763 948

– Income taxed at 0% (1 648 202)

– Realised profit on disposal (75 614)

– Other (296 541)

Non-deductible expenses 93 319

– Legal and professional costs 30 442

– Transaction costs 29 159

– Finance costs 24 281

– Other 9 437

Prior period adjustments1 (305 177)

Tax loss utilised (124 398)

Capital allowances (110 684)

Non-resident landlord tax 1 431 955

1  Majority of prior period adjustments relate to capital allowances not previously recognised.

 RECOGNITION OF TAX FOR THE YEAR
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Balance at beginning of the year 613 862 842 464

Tax charge for the year 78 730 1 493 442

Tax paid (860 130) (1 722 044)

Balance at year end (167 538) 613 862
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19. EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
  The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2020 is based on the income attributable 

to ordinary equity holders of GBP 20 593 968 (2019: GBP 9 183 080) and the weighted average of 188 976 628 
(2019: 188 976 628) ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue.

20. HEADLINE AND ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 20 593 968 9 183 080

Fair value adjustments to investment properties 278 477 7 052 205

Profit on disposal of investment property and subsidiary (4 280 321) (249 724)

Fair value adjustments to properties in associates – 348 229

Loss on disposal of investment properties in joint venture 1 390 704 –

Fair value adjustment on asset held for sale (1 017 213) 1 017 213

Headline earnings 16 965 615 17 351 003

Add back:

Fair value adjustments to listed investments 690 826 319 856

Net profit on disposal of investment properties, subsidiary and joint venture 2 889 617 249 724

Straight line lease income adjustment* (1 395 122) (1 186 611)

Impairment recognised on APIL loan 600 000 –

Fair Value adjustment on interest rate swaps 84 355 –

Adjusted for once-off costs:

IFRS 9 Fair Value Adjustment on debt modification (net of Swap Realisation) – 728 533

Restructuring costs 82 109 129 246

ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS 19 917 400 17 591 751

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence) 8.98 9.18

Adjusted headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence) 10.54 9.31

*  Straight line lease adjustments relating specifically to the contractual rental escalations are excluded from Adjusted Headline Earnings.  
Straight-line lease adjustments on lease incentives such as the rent-free periods are not excluded from Adjusted Headline Earnings.

The calculation of headline and adjusted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the year of 188 976 628 (2019: 188 976 628).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

21. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Profit before tax 20 672 698 10 676 522

Adjustments for:

Interest expense 6 831 347 5 592 367

Foreign exchange loss 10 281 (100 252)

Interest income (77 810) (147 812)

Dividend income (842 900) (288 133)

Fair value gain on investment properties 149 217 7 052 205

Fair value adjustment to listed investments 690 826 319 856

Fair value adjustment on assets held for sale (1 017 213) 1 017 213

Impairment recognised on APIL loan 600 000 –

Fair value adjustment – right of use asset 129 260 –

Fair value gain on derivatives 84 355 –

Fair value adjustment on refinancing loans – 744 119

Net profit on sale of investment property, subsidiary and joint venture (2 889 617) (249 724)

Profit on sale of listed investments – (128 344)

Equity accounted profit – (2 663 929)

Movements in straight-lining lease balance (1 837 949) (1 520 500)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 22 502 495 20 303 588

Working capital changes

Decrease in trade and other receivables 159 128 345 320

Increase in trade and other payables 71 696 93 561

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22 733 319 20 742 469

21.1 Dividends paid to shareholders
Dividends declared during the year 17 291 361 17 480 338

21.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
  Below is a reconciliation of the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, which includes both cash and non-cash 

charges. Liabilities from financing are those classified or will be classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as 
cash from financing as per interest bearing borrowing in note 11.

 INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
Figures in GBP 2020 2019

At beginning of the year 170 147 257 153 043 175

Proceeds from borrowings 17 764 638 15 834 744

Repayment of borrowings (12 160 883) –

Disposal of subsidiary (13 823 614) –

Non cash items:

Amortising costs capitalised 517 920 525 219

Fair value adjustment – IFRS 9 Debt Modification on Refinance – 744 119

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 162 445 318 170 147 257
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21. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES continued

21.3 Disposal of subsidiary
 On 28 February 2020 the Group disposed of Hyder Limited a wholly owned subsidiary.

 Details of the disposal are as follows:

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Investment property 33 993 700

Cash and cash equivalents 363 773

Repayment of borrowings (13 823 614)

Sundry creditors (323 986)

20 209 873

Cash (363 773)

Consideration received 19 846 100

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Financial

assets
measured at

amortised 
cost

Fair value
through profit

or loss
mandatory Total

2020

Financial assets

Listed investments – 2 926 786 2 926 786

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 2 758 595 – 2 758 595

Cash and cash equivalents 26 157 994 – 26 157 994

28 916 589 2 926 786 31 843 375

Financial
liabilities

amortised 
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held

for trading Total

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (excluding rental received in  
advance and taxes) 2 106 182 – 2 106 182

Interest-bearing borrowings 162 445 318 – 162 445 318

Derivative financial instruments – 3 430 869 3 430 869

164 551 500 3 430 869 167 982 369
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued
Financial

assets
 measured at

amortised 
cost

Fair value
through profit

or loss
mandatory Total

2019

Financial assets

Listed investments – 3 617 612 3 617 612

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 432 128 – 3 432 128

Cash and cash equivalents 12 597 553 – 12 597 553

16 029 681 3 617 612 19 647 293

Financial
assets

 measured at
amortised 

cost

Fair value
through profit

or loss
mandatory Total

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (excluding rental  
received in advance and taxes) 1 451 919 – 1 451 919

Interest-bearing borrowings 170 147 257 – 170 147 257

Derivative financial instruments – 1 208 517 1 208 517

171 599 176 1 208 517 172 807 693

 Gains/(losses) from the above categories of financial assets are disclosed as follows:

• Listed investments – income from listed investments is included in investment income. Profit/(loss) on disposal of 
listed investments is disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

• Trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents – interest income is included in investment income.

• Derivative financial instruments – fair value gains/(losses) are included in fair value adjustments and other 
comprehensive income.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
  The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the 

Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject 
to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability.

  The Board of Directors has set up a separate Risk Committee and Audit Committee to assist the Board in identifying and 
evaluating financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units to assist in:

• The safeguarding of the Group’s assets;

• The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls;

• The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;

• The Group’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements;

• An assessment of the Group’s service providers; and

• An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and its subsidiaries.

  The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and investing excess liquidity. These policies are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and in the Group’s activities.

  Key financial risk management reports are produced quarterly on a Group level and provided to the key management 
personnel in the Group.

  FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
  The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk 

and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

23.1 Market Risk
  Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices. The  Group’s market risks arise from open positions in:

 (a) foreign currencies, and

  (b) interest-bearing assets and liabilities,

  to the extent that these are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets guidelines on the 
exposure to currency and interest rate risk that may be accepted, which are monitored on a monthly basis (see details 
below). However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these guidelines in the event of more 
significant market movements.

  Sensitivities to market risks included below are based on a change in one factor while holding all other factors constant. 
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the factors may be correlated – for example, changes in 
interest rate and changes in foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

23.1 Market Risk continued

(A) CURRENCY RISK
  The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities, 

and those of its underlying subsidiaries are predominantly denominated in GBP which is the Group’s functional currency.

  The Group has financial assets and liabilities denominated in Euro (“EUR”), US Dollar (“USD”) and South African Rand (“ZAR”).

  Currency profile
  The currency profile of the Group and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Financial assets

GBP 30 939 780 18 477 510

EUR 846 778 1 112 675

ZAR 56 817 57 108

31 843 375 19 647 293

 Prepayments amounting to GBP 47 445 (2019: GBP 133 046) are excluded from the financial assets as at 28 February 2020.

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Financial liabilities

GBP 166 947 323 171 346 826

USD – 4 156

EUR 1 035 046 1 455 571

ZAR – 1 133

167 982 369 172 807 686

  The Group is not exposed to material changes in foreign exchange rates and equity indices.

(B) CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK
  The Group’s interest rate risk principally arises from long-term borrowings. Refer to note 11. Borrowings issued at 

variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group has no significant exposure to fair value 
interest rate risk.

  The Group’s policy is to fix the interest rate on a portion of its interest bearing borrowings. To manage this, the Group 
enters into interest rate swaps in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between 
fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. 
At 28 February 2020, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, 89% (2019: 77%) of the Group’s 
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. Trade receivables and trade payables are interest free and with a term of 
less than one year, so it is assumed that there is no interest rate risk associated with these financial assets and liabilities.

  The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored by the Group’s management on a monthly basis. The interest rate risk policy 
is approved annually by the Board of Directors. Management analyses the Group’s interest rate exposure on a dynamic 
basis. Various scenarios are simulated,taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative 
financing sources. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate 
shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

23.1 Market Risk continued

(B) CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK continued

  Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
  The impact of the change in interest rate (± 50 basis points) on profit before tax is as follows:

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents 96 169 93 951

Receivable from APIL 26 976 15 790

Borrowings 159 484 276 373

(C) PRICE RISK
  The Group is exposed to securities price risk which arises from listed investments held by the Group for which prices in 

the future are uncertain.

  Where listed investments are denominated in currencies other than the GBP, the price initially expressed in foreign 
currency and then converted into GBP, will also fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

  Management’s best estimate of the effect on the Group’s statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year due to a possible change in security prices, with all variables held constant is indicated below.

  If security prices had been 25% (2019: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s post tax profit for the year would have  
increased/decreased by approximately GBP 731 697 (2019: GBP 180 881) as a result of changes in fair value of the 
listed investments.

(D) CREDIT RISK
  Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 

discharge an obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade receivables, including 
rental receivables from lessees. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis and the group assigns internal credit ratings to 
all material tenants. Based on the credit rating assigned, the group reviews a credit risk exposure matrix showing the 
groups maximum acceptable rental income exposure to individual tenants. The overall exposure of the Group to tenant 
risks are subject to a quarterly review.

  In order to minimise any possible risks relating to cash, surplus funds can only be invested with investment grade banks.

  The Company has guaranteed the payment obligations of a loan of GBP 5.6 million by Investec Limited to Atlantic 
Property Investments Limited. The loan is repayable in September 2022. The value of the guarantee is estimated to be 
insignificant as no payments are expected to be made under the guarantee to Investec and ongoing covenant 
requirements are being met.

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Cash and cash equivalents 26 157 994 12 597 553

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 2 758 595 3 432 128

Guarantee 5 600 000 5 890 000

34 516 589 21 919 681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

23.1 Market Risk continued

(E) LIQUIDITY RISK
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle their obligations in 

full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. The Group manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments, credit facilities and interest rates so as to balance the Group’s 
exposure to interest rate and refinancing risk.

  The Group’s liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by management and is reviewed quarterly by the Board of 
Directors. A summary table with maturity of financial assets and liabilities presented below is derived from managerial 
reports at Group level. The amounts disclosed in the tables below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Undiscounted cash flows in respect of balances due within 12months generally equal their carrying amounts in the 
statement of financial position, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

  Refer to credit risk note above with regards to the guarantee payment obligations.

  Management constantly reviews the liquidity risk of the Group which includes the long term repayment profile of the 
bank borrowings. The Group plans to fund these payments in the future by refinancing the debt. Management are in 
constant communication with existing lenders regarding their appetite to continue to provide funding after the 
forecasted repayments dates.

  The maturity analysis of financial instruments as at 28 February 2020 is as follows:

Figures in GBP
Less than

1 year
Between

1 and 5 years
Over

5 years Total

2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26 157 994 – – 26 157 994

Listed securities 2 926 786 – – 2 926 786

Trade and other receivables (excluding 
prepayments) 2 603 990 – 154 605 2 758 595

31 688 770 – 154 605 31 843 375

Liabilities

Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future 
interest payments) 8 525 539 168 377 006 – 176 902 545

Derivative financial instruments (expected future 
interest payments) 711 955 1 452 501 – 2 164 456

Lease liability (note 12) 633 215 2 532 860 12 775 772 15 941 847

Trade and other payables:

– Trade and other payables 1 153 805 – – 1 153 805

– Accruals 310 371 – – 310 371

Guarantees 5 600 000 – – 5 600 000

16 934 885 172 362 367 12 775 772 202 073 024

62 ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2020



23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

23.1 Market Risk continued

(E) LIQUIDITY RISK continued

  The maturity analysis of financial instruments as at 28 February 2019 is as follows:

Figures in GBP
Less than

1 year
Between

1 and 5 years
Over

5 years Total

2019

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 597 553 – – 12 597 553

Listed securities 3 617 612 – – 3 617 612

Trade and other receivables (excluding 
prepayments) 3 254 929 13 538 163 661 3 432 128

19 470 094 13 538 163 661 19 647 293

Liabilities

Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future 
interest payments) 9 905 592 179 686 079 – 189 591 671

Derivative financial instruments (expected future 
interest payments) 854 014 2 638 989 – 3 493 003

Trade and other payables:

– Trade payables 615 419 – – 615 419

– Accruals 171 802 – – 171 802

Guarantees 5 890 000 – – 5 890 000

17 436 827 182 325 068 – 199 761 895

23.2 Capital risk management
 The gearing ratio is as follows:

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Total borrowings (Note 11) 162 445 318 170 147 257

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 9) (26 157 994) (12 597 553)

Net debt 136 287 324 157 549 704

TOTAL INVESTMENT ASSETS EXCLUDING RIGHT OF USE ASSET 337 851 786 355 527 968

Loan to value ratio 40% 44%

  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders 
or return capital to shareholders. To reduce debt, the Group can issue new shares or sell assets.

  The Group strategy is to maintain a loan to value (“LTV”) ratio that ensures the property performance is translated into 
an enhanced return to shareholders, while at the same time ensuring that it will be able to continue as a going concern 
through changing market conditions. The directors are of the opinion that an LTV ratio (excluding cash and cash 
equivalents) of 50%, in respect of secured external borrowings is an appropriate target for the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

24. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
  The table below analyses financial instruments and investment properties carried at fair value, by valuation method. 

The different levels have been defined, based on the inputs used as follows: 

 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

 Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total

fair value

2020

Assets and liabilities

Investment properties – – 350 866 859 350 866 859

Listed securities 2 926 786 – – 2 926 786

Derivative financial liabilities – (3 430 869) – (3 430 869)

2019

Assets and liabilities

Investment properties – – 328 910 000 328 910 000

Asset held for sale – 23 000 356 – 23 000 356

Listed securities 3 617 612 – – 3 617 612

Derivative financial liabilities – (1 208 517) – (1 208 517)

 Significant transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3
  There have been no significant transfers between levels during the year under review. The assets held for sale in the 

prior year were recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

  Unobservable inputs
  Unobservable inputs for Level 3 investment properties are disclosed in note 4.

64 ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2020



25. SEGMENT REPORT
  The Group is focused on investment properties, which are located in the United Kingdom. Each segment derives its 

revenue from the rental of investment properties.

  During the financial year, revenues from a single customer within the industrial segment amounted to GBP 8 565 006 
(2019: GBP 8 719 906), this equates to more than 10% of the Group’s revenues.

Industrial Office
Retail

Warehouse
Unallocated

items Total

2020

Statement of profit or loss

Operating income 19 967 262 5 623 682 239 362 (1 489 862) 24 340 444

Other income and Foreign 
exchange – – 619 000 291 4291 910 429

Net profit on disposal of 
investment properties and 
joint venture 4 313 263 – (1 423 646) – 2 889 617

Fair value adjustments – 
investment property 1 994 190 (2 010 872) (132 535) – (149 217)

Fair value adjustments – right of 
use asset (129 260) – – – (129 260)

Fair value – asset held for sale 183 068 – 834 145 – 1 017 213

Fair value – listed investments – – – (690 826)2 (690 826)

Fair value – interest rate swaps (84 353) – – – (84 353)

Interest expense (5 290 026) (1 460 483) (80 838) – (6 831 347)

Impairment of APIL loan – – – (600 000) (600 000)

Income tax (54 109) 8 864 13 822 (47 307) (78 730)

Adjusted headline earnings 17 800 382 3 867 700 (618 479) (1 132 203) 19 917 400

Operating income includes:

Segment revenue 22 923 203 6 064 817 254 129 – 29 242 149

Statement of financial position

Additions to investment property 
(Note 4) 40 457 852 – – – 40 457 852

Total assets 275 139 958 71 635 000 4 350 000 31 800 2593 382 925 217

Total borrowings 145 340 452 13 690 027 2 379 791 1 035 0484 162 445 318

Reconciliation of unallocated items

Statement of profit or loss

1. Dividends on listed investments, foreign exchange and other 
investment income

2. Fair value loss on the listed portfolio.

Statement of financial position

3. The unallocated item under total assets is 
made up as follows:

(GPB ‘000’s)
Listed investments 2 927
Loan receivable from APIL 2 331
Cash and cash equivalents 26 158
Other receivable 217
Tax receivable 167

31 800

4. Interest-bearing debt that originated through the broker for 
the purchase of the listed investments.
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25. SEGMENT REPORT continued

Industrial Office
Retail

Warehouse
Unallocated

items Total

2019

Statement of profit or loss

Operating income 17 214 302 5 335 011 150 761 (1 032 132) 21 667 942

Equity accounted profit (net of 
taxation) 722 527 – 1 941 402 – 2 663 929

Other income and Foreign 
exchange – – – 676 7571 676 757

Profit on disposal of investments 249 724 – – 128 3442 378 070

Fair value adjustments – 
investment property (3 168 569) (2 373 636) (1 510 000) – (7 052 205)

Fair value adjustments – debt 
refinancing (net swaps) (439 912) (286 986) (1 635) – (728 533)

Fair value – asset held for sale (183 068) – (834 145) – (1 017 213)

Fair value – listed investments – – – (319 856)3 (319 856)

Interest expense (4 176 152) (1 307 386) (93 866) (14 963)4 (5 592 367)

Income tax (927 340) (334 652) (169 863) (61 587)5 (1 493 442)

Adjusted headline earnings 11 821 149 3 651 281 2 293 658 (174 337) 17 591 751

Operating income includes:

Segment revenue 20 762 427 5 762 187 335 391 – 26 860 005

Statement of financial position

Additions to investment property 15 969 982 – – – 15 969 982

Total assets 256 984 186 73 330 000 22 012 100 19 364 4096 371 690 695

Total borrowings 127 363 738 39 130 099 2 464 113 1 189 3077 170 147 257

Total assets include:

Assets held for sale 5 288 255 – 17 712 101 – 23 000 356

Reconciliation of unallocated items

Statement of profit or loss Statement of financial position

1. Dividends on listed investments, foreign 
exchange and other investment income

2. Profit on disposal of listed investments.
3. Fair value gain on the listed portfolio.
4. Interest on the share trading facility of 

GBP 1.2 million (2018: GBP 2.8 million).
5. Withholding tax in Atlantic Leaf.

6. The unallocated item under total assets is 
made up as follows:

7. Interest-bearing debt that originated 
through the broker for the purchase of the 
listed investments.

(GPB ‘000’s)
Listed investments 3 618
Loan receivable from APIL 3 084
Cash and cash equivalents 12 598
Other receivable 64

19 364
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26. RELATED PARTIES
Figures in GBP
Relationships: Name

Country of incorporation 
and place of business

2020 2019
Percentage holding

Subsidiaries: ALF Guernsey Limited Guernsey 100% 100%

ALP Guernsey Limited Guernsey 100% 100%

ALF IOM Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

ALP IOM Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

Austen Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

Farringdon Properties Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

Wincar Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Winex Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Winpaign Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Wintel Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Winup Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Lexo Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

Trido Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

Hyder Limited Isle of Man 0% 100%

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Basswood Limited Isle of Man 100% 100%

  All the subsidiaries are either directly or indirectly engaged in real estate activities. 

 Directors: Refer to Directors’ Report

 Amount receivable from Atlantic Property Investments Limited

Figures in GBP 2020 2019
Balance at beginning of year 3 083 683 3 340 272

Loan repayment during the year (139 018) (296 159)

Interest accrued during the year 36 271 103 267

Interest repayment during the year (49 876) (63 697)

Loan impairment (600 000) –

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 2 331 060 3 083 683

  Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”) is an unconsolidated entity wholly-owned by Martial Eagle Limited (“Martial 
Eagle”), the management company. As per the Property Service Agreement (“PSA”), Martial Eagle has a right to subscribe for 
up to 5% of the shares in Atlantic Leaf, which it has done via APIL. The loan to APIL is made to fund the acquisition of these 
shares and is made through a facility agreement and bears interest at the weighted average funding rate of the Company 
for the last year. The Company has issued shares to APIL in respect of each individual loan. Atlantic Leaf’s maximum 
exposure to loss from this arrangement amounts to the carrying amount of the loan. Atlantic Leaf has also provided a 
guarantee to a third party in respect of finance provided to APIL. Refer to note 24 for details on the guarantee.
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26. RELATED PARTIES continued
 Amount due to related party – Martial Eagle Limited

Figures in GBP 2020 2019

Balance at beginning of year 451 805 443 848

Transaction fees 488 751 83 150

Property service fee 1 797 120 1 812 556

Specific expenses 40 375 13 031

Payments (2 158 353) (1 900 780)

BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 619 698 451 805

  Per the property service agreement (“PSA’’), a property service fee of 0.5% on the gross property assets, amongst others, 
was payable to Martial Eagle Limited. Additionally, Martial Eagle Limited is entitled to transaction fees of 0.5% on the 
gross asset value, capped at GBP 150 000 per transaction, such fees being payable only until the Group’s assets reach 
GBP 500 million.

 These transactions are conducted at arm’s length.

Figures in GBP 2020 2019
Professional fees paid to companies relating to directors of subsidiaries 180 947 189 273

  An amount of GBP 44 076 (2019: GBP 42 301) has been paid as directors fees and GBP 136 871 (2019: GBP 146 972) paid 
for professional fees. None of these payments have been made to directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited.

  Fees paid relate to management, consulting, technical or other fees paid for such services rendered, directly or indirectly, 
including payments to management companies for acting as directors of subsidiaries.

Figures in GBP 2020 2019
Directors fees

Peter Bacon 42 100 30 000

Cleopatra Folkes 25 250 21 000

Nicholas Winearls 25 000 22 000

Laurence Rapp 23 100 19 000

Rudolf Pretorius 29 550 25 500

Charles Butler 25 918 –

170 918 117 500

 Non-executive directors’ remuneration consists of short term employee benefits only.
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27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
  On 23 March 2020, as a result of COVID-19, the UK government announced new measures that put the UK in a state of 

lock down. As at the balance sheet date there was no market evidence of any immediate impact as a result of COVID-19, 
which was evidenced by ongoing sales in the market, including the sale completed by Atlantic Leaf. The investment 
property valuations at the reporting date were applied by lenders in their latest covenant calculations and as at 
28 February 2020 there were no material rental arrears. The property valuers have also indicated that they believe the 
valuations accurately reflect the property values at the time of the valuation and therefore Atlantic Leaf has judged that 
this is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

  OUR RESPONSE
  Following the recent escalation of UK governmental responses to COVID-19 and the possible impact on the Group and its 

customers, the Group has:

• Enacted its business continuity plans

• Stress tested its forecast cash position and its ability to continue as a going concern over the next 12 months

• Suspended all acquisitions of investment properties

• Drawn down on available RCFs

  CURRENT IMPACT ON REVENUE COLLECTIONS BETWEEN THE BALANCE SHEET DATE AND THE 
REPORTING DATE

  The Company collects rent quarterly in advance and at year end there were no material rental arrears. We have collected 
90% of rent due covering the period from March to June 2020, excluding a portion (10%) which has been agreed to be 
collected monthly instead of quarterly. The remaining 10% of the rent remains due and we are currently working with 
those tenants to determine suitable payment terms. Overall,this is a very positive outcome as the majority of rent due to 
the end of June has been collected and this further strengthens our cash position.

  CASH FLOW FORECAST
  The Group has performed additional stress testing of its cash flow forecast. When evaluating the cash position of the 

Group the directors have considered the following risk factors:

  1. The probability of a decrease in rental received from tenants

  2. Operational expenses anticipated

  3. Debt amortisations required to be paid

  4. Debt maturities

  5. Committed capex

  6. Discretionary capex

  7. Dividends or other equity payments

  8. Debt repayments on the potential breach of a bank covenant

  9. Payments relating to any guarantees
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27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD continued

  CASH FLOW FORECAST continued

  The following assumptions have been applied to the cash flow forecast:

• All revenue over the period was stress tested by risk rating the Group’s tenants and applying a “Monte Carlo” 
simulation to create a probability distribution of the forecast rental collections.

• Operational cash outflows including interest (of which 90% is at fixed interest rates) for the new financial year are 
forecast to be in line with current year.

• There is no debt maturing in the financial year ending 28 February 2021 and scheduled debt amortisation payments 
for this year are approximately GBP 6.5 million. There is a small HSBC facility with a current balance outstanding of 
GBP 13.8 million that is expiring on the 23rd March 2021. The facility forms part of the broader cross collateralised 
pool of assets pledged to HSBC. The total facility outstanding with HSBC is approximately GBP 118 million and we 
expect to refinance this portion of the facility into the existing main HSBC facility. No additional capital contributions 
have been assumed for this facility.

• The Company is within its loan covenants and has headroom in the interest cover and debt service cover ratios. All 
loan-to-value ratios are compliant with recent bank valuations carried out for the year ended February 2020 and the 
valuations for covenant purposes have been set for a least the next 12 months.

• The Company benefits from long term fully repairing and insuring leases on the majority of its property portfolio and 
there are no material capex requirements forecast.

• No new acquisitions of investment properties have been forecast.

  A summarised cash position of the Group is as follows:

• The Company is in a strong liquidity position and at year end holds cash of GBP 26 million and GBP 1.6 million of 
undrawn available facilities.

• The Company should have sufficient cash resources under all of the scenario’s tested and even without any rental 
revenue received over the forecast period, the company will be able to fund its operational expenses with existing 
cash resources.

  Whilst the company will be impacted by COVID-19, the current cash position of the company is strong, and the Board are 
comfortable that there are sufficient resources to ensure that the company can continue as a going concern.
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The supplementary information presented in this section does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited. 

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Industrial continued

Location Region Tenant
GLA

(sq ft)
GLA 

(sq m)
Rental

 Income

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq ft)

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq m) Value Valuer

Cowes 
South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 47 489  4 412 227 455 £4.79 £51.56 £3 575 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Stoke on Trent
West 
Midlands

Giant Booker 
Limited 91 965  8 544 413 580 £4.50 £48.41 £6 750 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Hull 
York & the 
Humber

Giant Booker 
Limited 87 591  8 137 226 627 £2.59 £27.85 £2 825 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Haydock 
North 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 66 097  6 141 325 718 £4.93 £53.04 £5 300 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Paignton 
South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 76 421  7 100 325 231 £4.26 £45.81 £4 925 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Wolverhampton 
West 
Midlands

Giant Booker 
Limited 94 035  8 736 380 735 £4.05 £43.58 £6 000 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Bristol 
Speedwell 

South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 68 399  6 354 282 472 £4.13 £44.45 £4 275 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Canterbury South East
Giant Booker 
Limited 40 554  3 768 216 233 £5.33 £57.39 £3 150 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Basingstoke 
South 
West

Booker  
Limited 28 532  2 651 187 916 £6.59 £70.89 £2 625 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Chelmsford 
South 
East

Giant Booker 
Limited 23 916  2 222 110 471 £4.62 £49.72 £1 550 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Chichester 
South 
East

Booker  
Limited 48 175  4 476 253 201 £5.26 £56.57 £3 325 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Newcastle 
North 
East

Giant Booker 
Limited 45 364  4 214 109 746 £2.42 £26.04 £1 725 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Portsmouth 
South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 85 810  7 972 602 919 £7.03 £75.63 £6 545 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Epping 
South 
East

Giant Booker 
Limited 95 278  8 852 450 000 £4.72 £50.84 £8 025 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Peterborough 
East 
Anglia

Giant Booker 
Limited 85 759  7 967 301 844 £3.52 £37.89 £2 050 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ALL INFORMATION IS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2020
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Industrial continued

Location Region Tenant
GLA

(sq ft)
GLA 

(sq m)
Rental

 Income

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq ft)

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq m) Value Valuer

Norwich 
East 
Anglia

Giant Booker 
Limited 73 469  6 825 268 818 £3.66 £39.38 £1 700 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Lowestoft 
East 
Anglia

Giant Booker 
Limited 54 735  5 085 306 836 £5.61 £60.34 £2 400 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Aldershot 
South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 61 049  5 672 419 000 £6.86 £73.88 £2 800 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Bristol 
Avonmouth 

South 
West

Giant Booker 
Limited 80 377  7 467 267 538 £3.33 £35.83 £2 150 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

York 
York & the 
Humber

Booker  
Limited 77 318  7 183 384 602 £4.97 £53.54 £4 115 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Glasgow Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 38 224  3 551 200 883 £5.26 £56.57 £3 300 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Hamilton Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 48 856  4 539 267 281 £5.47 £58.89 £3 650 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Oban Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 30 292  2 814 124 402 £4.11 £44.20 £1 700 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Kirkaldy Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 38 510  3 578 184 756 £4.80 £51.64 £2 525 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Paisley Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 21 037  1 954 107 980 £5.13 £55.25 £1 590 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Stirling Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 29 747  2 764 220 681 £7.42 £79.85 £2 450 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Aberdeen Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 33 261  3 090 155 000 £4.66 £50.16 £1 525 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Perth Scotland
Giant Booker 
Limited 31 248  2 903 162 251 £5.19 £55.89 £1 450 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

St Helens
North 
West

Robert McBride 
Ltd 109 556  10 178 526 795 £4.81 £51.76 £8 150 000

Cushman & 
Wakefield LLP

Cardiff Wales

Specialist 
Building 
Products Ltd 48 720  4 526 200 000 £4.11 £44.19 £2 875 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Paignton 
South 
West

Specialist 
Building 
Products Ltd 155 486  14 445 525 000 £3.38 £36.34 £6 810 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Telford
East 
Midlands

Specialist 
Building 
Products Ltd 34 820  3 235 105 000 £3.02 £32.46 £1 575 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Stafford
East 
Midlands

Specialist 
Building 
Products Ltd 142 485  13 237 450 000 £3.16 £33.99 £6 290 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Wetherby
York & the 
Humber

Smurfit Kappa 
UK Ltd 151 895  14 112 679 900 £4.48 £48.18 £9 800 000

Cushman & 
Wakefield LLP

Chesterfield
East 
Midlands

Smurfit Kappa 
UK Ltd 57 821  5 372 275 400 £4.76 £51.27 £4 200 000

Cushman & 
Wakefield LLP
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Industrial continued

Location Region Tenant
GLA

(sq ft)
GLA 

(sq m)
Rental

 Income

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq ft)

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq m) Value Valuer

Cannock
West 
Midlands

Gestamp 
Tallent Limited 165 095  15 338 796 956 £4.83 £51.96 £10 280 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Redditch
East 
Midlands Halfords Ltd 357 541  33 217  1 889 441 £5.28 £56.88 £31 700 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

St Helens 
North 
West

Law 
Distribution 144 973  13 468 £652 770 £4.50 £48.47 £8 250 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Nuneaton
West 
Midlands Booker Ltd 88 129  8 187 738 823 £8.38 £90.24 £9 900 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Crewe
North 
West

Buffaload 
Logistics 
Limited 204 128  18 964 850 000 £4.16 £44.82 £11 120 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Knowsley
North 
West

B&M,  
Serco 574 078  53 334  1 617 486 £2.82 £30.33 £15 950 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited

Droitwich 
West 
Midlands

Droitwich  
Koito 177 694  16 508 824 500 £4.64 £49.95 £11 890 000

Jones Lang 
LaSalle

Morley 
York & the 
Humber Cassielle 91 832  8 532 459 570 £5.00 £53.86 £5 750 000

Jones Lang 
LaSalle

Manchester
North 
West Kerry 62 429  5 800 296 350 £4.75 £51.09 £4 450 000

Jones Lang 
LaSalle

Denby
East 
Midlands Lockwood 108 786  10 107 597 291 £5.49 £59.10 £9 350 000

Jones Lang 
LaSalle

Wolverhampton 
West 
Midlands Assa Abloy 120 341  11 180 512 000 £4.25 £45.80 £6 600 000

Jones Lang 
LaSalle

Office

Location Region Tenant
GLA

(sq ft)
GLA 

(sq m)
Rental

 Income

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq ft)

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq m) Value Valuer

Greenock Scotland EE Ltd 64 014  5 947 811 421 £12.68 £136.44 £10 860 000
Cushman & 
Wakefield LLP

Coventry 
West 
Midlands E.On UK Plc 48 545  4 510  1 136 293 £23.41 £251.95 £12 500 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Newcastle
North 
East

Santander 
Cards UK Ltd 102 650  9 536  2 112 257 £20.58 £221.49 £26 800 000

BNP Paribas 
Real Estate

Peterborough
North 
East

Bauer 
Consumer 
Media Limited 177 621  16 502 646 325 £3.64 £39.17 £21 475 000

Lambert Smith 
Hampton 
Group Limited
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Retail warehouse

Location Region Tenant
GLA

(sq ft)
GLA 

(sq m)
Rental

 Income

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq ft)

Rental
 Income
 (£/sq m) Value Valuer

Brecon Wales
B&M Retail 
Limited 25 028  2 325 315 600 £12.61 £135.73 £4 350 000

Cushman & 
Wakefield LLP

 � All properties are single tenanted with the exception of Knowsley and Peterborough. Peterborough currently has a vacant 
area that was previously tenanted by Thomas Cook, this is currently being redeveloped into a multi-let building.

 � The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.

 � All the external valuations occurred in February 2020.

PROPERTY SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Sector

Sector Valuation

% of 
portfolio

 value
GLA 

(sq ft)

% of 
portfolio 

GLA

Annualised
 rental

income

% of 
portfolio 

rent

Rental
income
(£/sq ft)

Office 71 635 000 21% 392 830 8%  4 706 296 19%  £11.98 

Industrial 258 940 000 77% 4 399 317 91%  19 481 458 80%  £4.43 

Retail Warehouse 4 350 000 1%  25 028 1%  315 600 1%  £12.61 

Total 334 925 000 100% 4 817 175 100%  24 503 354 100%  £29.02 

Geographical

Regional Split
Area 
(sq ft) %

Rental 
 Income %

Scotland 335 189 7%  2 234 655 9%

North West 1 161 261 24%  4 269 119 17%

North East 325 635 7%  2 868 328 12%

West Midlands 785 804 16%  4 802 887 20%

East Midlands 701 453 15%  3 317 132 14%

York. & the Humber 408 636 8%  1 750 699 7%

South West 603 563 13%  2 837 531 12%

South East 207 923 4%  1 029 905 4%

East Anglia 213 963 4%  877 498 4%

Wales 73 748 2%  515 600 2%

Total 4 817 175 100%  24 503 354 100%
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Tenants

Classification
Area 
(sq ft) %

Annualised
 rental 

 income (£) %
Number of 

Tenants %

A 3 616 409 75% 19 944 760 81% 13 39%

B 491 067 10% 1 806 795 7% 2 6%

C 580 643 12% 2 751 799 11% 18 55%

Vacant 129 056 3%

Total 4 817 175 100% 24 503 354 100%  33 100%

Grade A:  Large, multinational or national companies with significant local and/or international operating facilities, strong 
financial strength and risk credit ratings

Grade B:  Sizable, national companies with multiple operating facilities, average to good financial strength and risk credit ratings

Grade C: Other to be specified on case by case basis

The above is based on number of facilities, size and guided by D&B credit ratings.

Vacancies

Sector
GLA

 (sq ft)
GLA

 %

ERV as a
 proportion of 

total annualised
rental income %

Office 115 550 2.4% 7.0%

Industrial 13 506 0.3% 0.5%

Retail Warehouse 0 0.0% 0.0%

Total 129 056 2.7% 7.5%

2020

Lease expiry profile by revenue
(GBP millions)
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■ E.ON UK PLC
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■ SMURFIT KAPPA UK LTD
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■ BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS LTD
■ EE LTD
■ KERRY LIGISTICS LTD
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■ SANTANDER CARDS UK LTD
■ SPECIALIST BUILDING PRODUCTS LTD
■ BAUER CONSUMER MEDIA LTD
■ CASSELLIE LTD
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■ KOITO EUROPE LTD
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ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED / 75



2020

Lease expiry profile by rental area per sector 
(million ft2)

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0

■ INDUSTRIAL              ■ OFFICE              ■ RETAIL WAREHOUSE

20342021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033

The portfolio has a mixed escalation profile, predominantly on a five year rolling cycle with fixed or open market escalations. 
Two exceptions are Coventry and Nuneaton which escalate annually.

The average annualised property portfolio yield is 7.05% (7.45% including Thomas Cook’s old rent on the vacant space at the 
Peterborough property).

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
Shareholder type

 
Number of

 holders
% of 

holders
Number of

 shares
% of

 shares

Public 616 98.1% 95 037 573 50.29%

Non-public 12 1.9% 93 939 055 49.71%

Directors and associates 10 1.6% 6 312 997 3.34%

Material shareholders (>10%) 2 0.3% 87 626 058 46.37%

Total 628 100.0% 188 976 628 100.0%

Shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company’s issued shares as at 28 February 2020

Shareholder name
% 

shareholding

Vukile Property Fund Limited 34.90%

KAS Bank Client ACC 11.47%

Sentinel Retirement Fund 9.85%

Atlantic Property Investments Limited 5.00%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Company registration number
128426

Registered office of the Company
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited 
c/o Ocorian Secretaries (Jersey) Limited 26 New Street,  
St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RA

Jersey Company Administrator  
and Company Secretary
Ocorian Secretaries (Jersey) Limited 

26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RA

Bankers
Barclays Bank Plc

PO Box 69999, 1 Churchill Place,
London, E14 1QE
United Kingdom

First National Bank

RMB Corporate Banking – Cape Town
25th Floor Portside
5 Buitengracht Street
Cape Town, 8001
South Africa
(PO Box 911, Cape Town, 8000)

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 
(Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132)

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Ltd

Level 3, Alexander House 35 Cybercity, Ebene,  
72201 Mauritius

South African JSE sponsor
Java Capital 

6th Floor, 1 Park Lane, Wierda Valley, Sandton, 2196  
South Africa 
(PO Box 522606, Saxonwold, 2132)

SEM authorised representative  
and sponsor
Perigeum Capital Ltd 

Level 3, Alexander House 35 Cybercity, Ebene,  
72201 Mauritius 

UK auditors
Mazars UK

Tower Bridge House
St Katherine’s Way
London, E1W 1DD
United Kingdom

South African auditors
Mazars South Africa 

Mazars House, Rialto Road, Grand Moorings Precinct,  
7441 Century City, South Africa  
(Postal address same as physical address)

Company website
www.atlanticleaf.com
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FORWARD-LOOKING DISCLAIMER
Certain statements made in this document constitute 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can 
be identified by the use of words such as “may”, “will”, 
“should”, “predict”, “assurance”, “aim”, “hope”, “risk”, “expect”, 
“intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “seek”, 
“continue”, or other similar expressions that are predictive or 
indicative of future events. All statements other than 
statements of historical facts included in this document, 
including, without limitation, those regarding Atlantic Leaf’s 
expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning, amongst 
other things, the Company’s results of operations, financial 
position, growth strategy, prospects, dividend policy and the 
industries in which the Company operates, are forward-
looking statements.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of 
which are outside of the control of the Company and its 
directors, which may cause the actual results, performance, 
achievements, cash flows, dividends of the Company or 
industry results to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied 
by such forward-looking statements. As such, forward-looking 
statements are no guarantee of future performance.

Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous 
assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future 
business strategies and the environment in which the 
Company will operate in the future, and are subject to a 
number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results and performance to differ materially from any 
expected future results or performance, expressed or 
implied, by the forward-looking statement.

Among the important factors that could cause the Company’s 
actual results, performance or achievements to differ 
materially from those in the forward-looking statements 
include, among others, economic conditions in the relevant 
markets of the world, market position of the Company or its 
subsidiaries, earnings, financial position, cash flows, return 
on capital and operating margins, political uncertainty, the 
actions of competitors, activities by governmental authorities 
such as changes in taxation or regulation, changing business 
or other market conditions and general economic conditions.

Forward-looking statements should, therefore, be construed 
in light of such risk factors and undue reliance should not be 
placed on forward-looking statements. These forward-looking 
statements speak only as of the date of this document and 
are not intended to give assurance as to future results. The 
information and opinions contained in this document are 
subject to change without notice and, subject to compliance 
with applicable law, the Company assumes no responsibility 
or obligation to update publicly or review any of the forward-
looking statements contained herein.

Atlantic Leaf accepts no responsibility for any loss, of 
whatever nature, that may arise from use of the information 
in this presentation or your reliance on any of the 
information contained this report, including without 
limitation the forecast financial information provided in this 
report, and in no event will Atlantic Leaf be liable for any loss 
or damage including without limitation, indirect or 
consequential loss or damage, or any loss or damage 
whatsoever arising from loss of profits arising out of or in 
connection with the use of this presentation or the 
information contained herein. Atlantic Leaf cannot accept any 
responsibility for any damages or loss arising directly or 
indirectly from the use of this presentation and the 
information contained herein.
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FORM OF PROXY
IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING THE USE OF THIS FORM OF PROXY

Shareholders are advised to read the instructions for completing this form of proxy contained in the notice of the Annual General Meeting to which this form of 
proxy is attached, in addition to the notes to this form of proxy.

This form of proxy is intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form and held through a 
Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, who have selected “own name” registration (“own–name dematerialised shareholders”), at the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held via the electronic platform (as detailed in the Notice of Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders), on Friday, 28 August 2020 at 9h00 UK time (10h00 South African time/12h00 Mauritian time). Additional forms of proxy are available from the 
Company’s registered office.

This form of proxy is not intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form and who have not 
selected “own name” registration of dematerialised shares. Such shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the 
Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary letter of representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their 
voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions at the 
Annual General Meeting.

This form must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS
The Company Secretary, Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited, c/o Ocorian Secretaries (Jersey) Limited, 26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RA

Dear Sir/Madam,

I/We   being shareholder(s) of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited hereby appoint: 

1.   or failing him/her;

2.   or failing him/her;

3.   the chairman of the Annual General Meeting 

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 28 August 2020 at 9h00 UK time (10h00 South African 
time/12h00 Mauritian time) via the electronic platform, and at any adjournment of the meeting, which will be held for purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions and the special resolutions to be proposed thereat as detailed in the notice of Annual General 
Meeting; and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or to abstain from voting for and/or against the resolutions in respect of the shares registered in 
my/our name in accordance with the following instructions:

SCHEME RESOLUTION FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

Ordinary resolution number 1 (To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company  
for the year ended 28 February 2020)

Ordinary resolution number 2.1 (Re-election of Mr. Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.2 (Re-election of Mr. Mark Andrew Pryce as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.3 (Re-election of Mr. Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.4 (Re-election of Ms. Cleopatra Liana Folkes as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.5 (Re-election of Mr. Laurence Gary Rapp as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.6 (Re-election of Mr. Pieter Rudolf Pretorius as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.7 (Re-election of Mr. Charles Alistair Neilson Butler as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.8 (Re-election of Mr. Peter Douglas St. John Bacon as director)

Ordinary resolution number 3 (Re-appointment of independent auditor)

Ordinary resolution number 4 (Authorising directors to determine remuneration of independent auditor)

Ordinary resolution number 5 (Approval of independent non-executive directors’ fees)

Ordinary resolution number 6 (Authorising directors to allot and issue up to 100,000,000 additional ordinary shares)

Ordinary resolution number 7 (Authorising directors to issue shares for cash)

Non-binding resolution number 1 (Endorsement of Remuneration Policy)

Non-binding resolution number 2 (Endorsement of Remuneration Implementation Report)

I/we a shareholder of the Company, hereby consent to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts, or any other documents pertaining to the Company 
at the following email address until such authority is revoked: 

Email address:  

I/we undertake to advise the Company within 5 days at the below addresses of any change in my/our email address. This consent may be revoked at any 
time on the provision of 5 days’ notice in writing to the Company. 

Signed this   day of   2020

Signed:  

Shareholder name:  

Assisted by: 

ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED
Incorporated in Jersey Registration number: 128426  

SEM share code: ALPL.N0000 JSE share code: ALP 
ISIN: MU0422N00009

(“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”)
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NOTES:
1.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

2.  Notwithstanding the appointment of a proxy by a shareholder who is a natural person, such shareholder may attend the 
Annual General Meeting in person and vote thereat, to the exclusion of the appointed proxy.

3. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).

4.  Such proxy(ies) appointed pursuant to this form of proxy may participate in, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting 
in the place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy 
and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. If no proxy 
is named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5.  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the votes 
cast or abstained may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held by the shareholder; and

6.  Documentary evidence appointing a proxy or establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a 
representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or the 
company secretary or waived by the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.
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